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WELCOME TO GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL’S ANNUAL REPORT 2022
Gannawarra Shire Council’s Annual Report provides our community with comprehensive and transparent information on 
Council’s operational, financial, environmental and social performance during the 2021/22 year.

All councils are required by the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) to prepare an Annual Report each financial year 
which is compliant with the Local Government Performance Reporting Framework (LGPRF).
This Annual Report documents Council’s highlights, our achievements and our response to emerging challenges.

NEED AN EXTRA COPY?
Additional copies of the Annual Report can be obtained by:

• Visiting our website www.gsc.vic.gov.au
• Calling us on (03) 5450 9333
•  Visiting one of our Customer Service Centres  

(See Contact Council section for locations)
• Emailing council@gsc.vic.gov.au
•  Writing to Gannawarra Shire Council at PO Box 287, Kerang 3579

FEEDBACK
We welcome feedback regarding the production of our Annual Report. 

Feedback provides us with the opportunity to continuously improve our methods for communicating the information 
contained within this report. If you would like to provide feedback, please contact us via the details provided in the 
Contact Council section of this report.

COVER IMAGE: The Cohuna All Abilities Adventure Playground opened to the public in December 2021.
RIGHT: The Cohuna All Abilities Adventure Playground celebrates the town’s links to the dairy industry.
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Located in northwestern Victoria, the Gannawarra 
boasts a diverse regional economy and significant 
natural assets such as Gunbower National Park, the 
Murray River, Gunbower Creek and Kerang Lakes.

Bordered by Swan Hill to the north, Buloke to the west, 
Loddon and Campaspe to the south and the Murray 
River to the east, the Gannawarra contains two central 
towns – Kerang and Cohuna - and numerous smaller 
settlements, including Koondrook, Quambatook, 
Leitchville, Lalbert, Lake Charm, Macorna, Murrabit and 
Mystic Park (Kangaroo Lake).

Serviced by the Loddon Valley and Murray Valley 
highways, the Gannawarra is 1.25 hours by car from 
Bendigo, 40 minutes by car from Swan Hill and 3 hours’ 
drive from Melbourne. Regular passenger rail services 
also exist from Kerang to Swan Hill and Bendigo, with 
connections to Melbourne.

Due to its proximity to the Torrumbarry Irrigation 
System and the eastern fringe of the Mallee cropping 
region, the Gannawarra enjoys a diverse economy  
with representation across all sectors - including  
dairy, cropping, livestock, retail trade, manufacturing 
and government services such as healthcare and 
education. The Gannawarra also boasts emerging 
opportunities in areas such as nature based tourism 
and renewable energy.

The Gannawarra is renowned for its strong community 
pride, thanks to our communities’ efforts to motivate 
and inspire each other to make the region a great place 
to live, visit and do business.

About the Gannawarra

GANNAWARRA SHIRE
VICTORIA 

Vibrant

Creative Proud

Supportive

Innovative

Our communities are

Population

10,683
*(Censusdata.abs.gov.au, 2021)

49.7%
Male

50.2%
Female

51
Median age

3,736 km2

Area 

OUR PEOPLE
Our primary centres are Kerang and Cohuna. Smaller 
outlying communities include Koondrook, Leitchville, 
Quambatook, Murrabit, Lake Charm, Lalbert, Macorna 
and Mystic Park. Our small communities each have 
their own unique identity. 

Age

4.6% 11.1% 4.6% 49.7% 30.2%

0-4 Years 5-14 Years 15-19 Years
20-64 Years 65+ Years

INTRODUCTION
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VISION STATEMENT
Our community will be proud, connected and 
inclusive as we actively seek opportunities that 
enhance lifestyle and liveability.
We will recognise and appreciate the value of 
the natural environment and how it connects 
our communities.
We will strive to be resilient to a changing 
environment through innovation and collaboration.
The Gannawarra will grow through encouraging 
economic diversity, creating unique tourism 
destinations, and embracing our cultural and 
natural assets.

STRATEGY STATEMENT
The Gannawarra will be renowned as an 
Australian destination and home of choice 
for its liveability and unique opportunities in 
innovative agriculture, renewable energy and 
nature-based tourism.
We focus on inclusive services and assets that 
enhance the health and wellbeing, cultural 
heritage, connectivity and productivity of our 
communities.

KEY OBJECTIVES

Above: Gannawarra Shire Council co-organised the 2022 
National Reconciliation Week walk, which occurred through 
the streets of Kerang in May 2022.

Liveability Growth Sustainability

Values

Trust Respect Innovation Collaboration

Our Community Vision

Gannawarra Shire Council 
acknowledges the Barapa 

Barapa, Yorta Yorta and Wamba 
Wamba people as the traditional 
owners of the land now known  

as Gannawarra.
We pay our respects to Elders 

past, present and emerging and 
acknowledge their rich culture 

and connection to Country.

INTRODUCTION
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Mayor,s Message

Welcome to Gannawarra Shire Council’s  
2022 Annual Report, which highlights 
Council’s achievements during the 2021/22 
financial year.

This Annual Report assesses Council’s 
performance against the three goals 
outlined in the Growing Gannawarra - 2021-
2025 Council Plan:

Council’s role in achieving these  
goals involves:

•  Acting as a representative government by 
taking into account the diverse needs of the 
local community in decision making;

•  Providing leadership by establishing 
strategic objectives and monitoring their 
achievement;

•  Maintaining the viability of Council by 
ensuring that resources are managed in a 
responsible and accountable manner;

•  Advocating the interests of the local 
community to other 
communities and 
governments;

•  Acting as a responsible 
partner in government by 
taking into account the needs 
of other communities; and

•  Fostering community 
cohesion and 
encouraging active 
participation in civic 
life.

Liveability Growth Sustainability

HIGHLIGHTS
The 2021/22 financial year was one of growth for the 
Gannawarra. Despite the community enduring the 
COVID-19 pandemic, Council was able to deliver key 
projects and promote our strengths, leading to another 
period of population growth.

DEVELOPING KEY STRATEGIES
One of the major achievements of Council during 
2021/22 was the adoption of the Growing Gannawarra 
– 2021-2025 Council Plan. This high level strategic 
document reflects the needs of our community and is 
helping the Gannawarra realise its full potential.

Developed in partnership with the community, this 
document outlines the three goals Council is striving to 
achieve between 2021 and 2025:

•  Enhancing the wellbeing and liveability of the 
Gannawarra through creative infrastructure and 
access to services;

•  Growing the Gannawarra by developing a diverse and 
broad economy; and

•  Supporting long-term financial and environmental 
sustainability.

Council also began engaging with the community on 
what will be one of the most important documents to 
be developed during this municipal term – the Draft 
Gannawarra Aquatic Strategy. 

This strategy will help shape the future of aquatic 
services in the Gannawarra, with a focus on modern 
and contemporary use rather than focusing on a 
model of service that was established when outdoor 
swimming pools were built throughout the Gannawarra 
more than 50 years ago.

My fellow Councillors and I have taken time to listen 
to the community’s passion for our aquatic services 
and look forward to the continued development of this 
document during 2022/23.

TRANSFORMING THE 
GANNAWARRA
During 2021/22, Council was able to deliver numerous 
capital works projects that have transformed our 
towns and popular community assets. These include 
works at Cohuna and Kerang that connect these towns’ 
central business districts to popular community spaces, 
construction of all abilities playgrounds at Cohuna, 
Kerang and Koondrook, and improving valuable 
community facilities.

These transformational efforts will continue in the 
coming years, thanks to State Government support for 
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projects such as The Glasshouse @ The Gannawarra – a 
regional digital media and community meeting space 
to be located at Kerang’s Sir John Gorton Library – and 
planning support for the Kerang to Koondrook Rail Trail.

RECOVERING FROM THE  
COVID-19 PANDEMIC
Council continued to support the community as the 
COVID-19 pandemic entered a third year, providing 
key services during times when restrictions were in 
place and backing community and business efforts to 
reconnect social connections with communities.

It has been pleasing to see communities come together 
during the first half of 2022 and businesses adapting to 
trading outdoors, all made possible thanks to financial 
support Council received from the State Government’s 
Community Activation and Social Isolation initiative. 

ADVOCATING FOR  
OUR COMMUNITIES
Behind the scenes, Council continues to advocate for 
the community’s needs, including the importance of 
financial stability and healthy communities. This is done 
both as an individual Council and via our involvement 
with groups such as the Loddon Campaspe Group of 
Councils and Murray River Group of Councils.

These efforts include our continued campaign for 
the Gannawarra to become the renewable energy 
capital of Victoria, which is closer to becoming reality 
following the Australian Energy Market Operator’s call 

for the development of VNI-West – known locally as 
KerangLink. This installation of electricity infrastructure 
that will connect Victoria and New South Wales’ 
electricity network will also enable renewable energy 
projects to proceed across the municipality.

A STRONG TEAM
Many of the achievements highlighted in my message 
and throughout the 2022 Annual Report would not 
be possible without the leadership of Council Chief 
Executive Officer, Tom O’Reilly and Council staff.

I also thank my fellow Councillors for their commitment 
and passion for advocating for our communities. 

LOOKING FORWARD
Council looks forward to continuing to deliver 
outcomes guided by the Growing Gannawarra – 2021-
2025 Council Plan and advocating for the community’s 
needs during 2022/23.

Council’s 2022/23 Budget will assist to achieve this, 
with more than $14 million allocated to a capital works 
program that will transform the liveability, recreational 
and tourism opportunities for residents and visitors alike.

Cr Charlie Gillingham 
MAYOR 

Mayor Charlie Gillingham (left), Minister for Local 
Government, The Hon. Shaun Leane MLC and Gannawarra 
Shire Council Chief Executive Officer, Tom O’Reilly at The 
Glasshouse @ The Gannawarra funding announcement in 
January 2022.
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CEO,s Message

YEAR IN REVIEW

On behalf of Gannawarra Shire Council, it is 
a great pleasure to present Council’s Annual 
Report for 2021/22.

I am proud of this organisation and its 
achievements in instilling hope and 
confidence throughout the Gannawarra.

I am also proud to be part of the  
Gannawarra Shire community – one that 
continues to excel and achieve the  
objectives outlined in the Growing 
Gannawarra - 2021-2025 Council Plan.

As Chief Executive Officer, I am  
responsible for:

•  Establishing and maintaining an  
appropriate organisational structure  
for Council;

•  Ensuring that the decisions of Council are 
implemented without undue delay;

•  The day to day management of the  
Council’s operations in accordance with  
the Growing Gannawarra - 2021-2025 
Council Plan;

•  Developing, adopting and disseminating a 
Code of Conduct for Council staff; and

•  Providing timely advice to Council.

HIGHLIGHTS
The previous 12 months have been one of 
transformation for the Gannawarra reflected by the 
significant number of capital works projects which 
create a platform for future growth, development and 
enhanced livability.

TRANSFORMING THE 
GANNAWARRA
No matter where residents live in the Gannawarra, 
major projects that transform the way we live and 
interact proceeded or were completed in 2021/22.

It has been exciting to see major projects roll out within 
the Cohuna and Kerang central business districts. The 
second stage of the Cohuna Waterfront Development, 
completed in June 2022, has strengthened the links 
between the Cohuna CBD and the picturesque Gunbower 
Creek, with the creation of spaces where families can 
socialise through enhancements made to Apex Park.

Stage 2 of the Kerang CBD Redevelopment, completed 
in early 2022, has opened up Scoresby Street and 
provides a visual connection between this space and 
the Victoria Square precinct, whilst the completion of 
the final stage of Kerang’s Tate Drive Industrial Estate 
expansion has already reached capacity.

Our smaller communities are also benefiting. The 
transformation of Murrabit’s open drain network 
to an underground drainage infrastructure system 
has beautified the town whilst mitigating the risk 
associated with arbovirus. Other transformational 
projects involve the preliminary work for the 
construction of the Quambatook Weir pool and 
connecting this Avoca River oasis to Quambatook.

One of the most exciting transformations has been the 
creation of spaces where people of all abilities can play. 
Cohuna and Koondrook have embraced all abilities 
playgrounds that opened during 2021/22, whilst the 
Kerang All Abilities Play Space and the first Changing 
Places facility in the Gannawarra – which will open in 
mid-2022 - will benefit visitors to Atkinson Park.

These projects are not possible without the support 
from our State and Federal counterparts, which 
underpins our ability as a small rural council to 
undertake these works.

It is important to remember that these transformation 
efforts occurred at a time where, as a community, 
we were transitioning out of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Despite the challenges, the efforts of our staff to provide 
valued and essential community services and deliver 
major construction projects has been truly inspirational.
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LOOKING AHEAD
The Australian Bureau of Statistics’ 2021 Census data 
showed that the Gannawarra is a place where people 
want to live, with our population increasing again 
compared to the previous five years. Our population 
also bucked regional trends during the COVID-19 
pandemic, increasing at a time when population figures 
for several municipalities in the north and west of 
Victoria were declining.

This growth can be attributed by our efforts to 
promote the ‘ART of the Gannawarra’ strategy –  
which aims to encourage diversification to our 
Agriculture sector, attract investment in Renewable 
energy projects, and promote our nature-based 
Tourism attractions.

Renewable energy and supporting climate change 
adaption initiatives has been a strong focus of 
Council, evident by our advocacy efforts to support 
the Australian Energy Market Operator’s (AEMO) call 
for the development of VNI-West – known locally as 
KerangLink. The construction of this major electricity 
transmission infrastructure that will connect Victoria 
and New South Wales’ energy network will also 
enable renewable energy projects to proceed across 
the municipality and help build the nation’s largest 
renewable energy zone.

Meanwhile, the Gannawarra will soon be home to a 
regionally significant media lab and contemporary 
meeting space, thanks to the State Government. We 
were honoured to have the former Local Government 
Minister, the Hon. Shaun Leane MLC visit Kerang’s Sir 
John Gorton Library in January 2022 to announce $1.5 

million for this project and extol its importance – one 
that will create a space for our regional communities to 
connect, collaborate, create and celebrate together.

AN INSPIRING TEAM
These transformational projects and advocacy efforts 
are made possible thanks to our outstanding team that 
is committed to the Gannawarra – one that is totally 
committed to delivering for their community.

This commitment is validated by the number of awards 
Council has received or been nominated for during 
2021/22 – highlighted by three major accolades at 
the 2022 LGPro Awards for Excellence. These awards, 
judged by our peers across the local government 
sector, heralds the work that our team do and shows 
that we are best practice in many areas of delivery.

Despite the challenges, our wonderful team are well 
positioned to continue to deliver hope and confidence 
for the greater good of the Gannawarra community. 

I have been really proud to be part of our brilliant 
Gannawarra team and the community can look forward 
with great confidence and positivity to a bright and 
sustainable future for the Gannawarra. 

Tom O’Reilly 
Chief Executive Officer

Council Chief Executive Officer, Tom O’Reilly (left), Cr Jane 
Ogden, Cr Travis Collier, Cr Ross Stanton, Koondrook Develop-
ment Committee President, Bryan Goble and Mayor Charlie 
Gillingham at the opening of the Koondrook All Abilities 
Playground in December 2021.

YEAR IN REVIEW
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Year in Review

YEAR IN REVIEW

JULY

•  re-Connect with your Gannawarra 
program launched, which supported 
mental health and wellbeing 
development during the COVID-19 
pandemic

•  Leitchville Pre-School recognised 
for completing the Tobacco, Alcohol 
and Other Drugs priority area of the 
Healthy Early Childhood Services 
Achievement Program

•  Council’s Maternal and Child Health 
services supported a world leading 
child health research project 

•  Council services were impacted by 
State Government-implemented 
COVID-19 measures

OCTOBER

•  Council held its first digital Australian 
Citizenship ceremony

•  24 events, projects and initiatives 
benefited from Council’s 2021 
Community Grants program

•  Council approved a proposal from 
Enel Green Power to improve 
lighting at the Leitchville Recreation 
Reserve

•  Financial Plan 2021/22 to 2030/31 
adopted

AUGUST

•  Inaugural Community Grants Forum 
held online

•  Growing Gannawarra - 2021-2025 
Council Plan and Year One Action  
Plan adopted

•  The Gannawarra Official Visitor 
Guide, showcasing key tourism  
and hospitality businesses within  
the Gannawarra, was published  
and distributed throughout  
northern Victoria and southern  
New South Wales

•  Council services continued to  
be impacted by COVID-19  
lockdown measures

NOVEMBER

•  Cr Charlie Gillingham was elected 
Mayor for a second term, with Cr Jane 
Ogden elected Deputy Mayor

•  Walk to School Month held, 
involving all 10 primary schools 
located within the Gannawarra

•  Following the easing of COVID-19 
restrictions, volunteers resumed 
supporting popular Council services

•  Gannawarra Goes Orange campaign 
held, which encourages residents to 
call out all forms of family violence

SEPTEMBER

•  Koondrook All Abilities Playspace 
opened to the public

•  Council recognised the role its 
Meals on Wheels volunteers play in 
supporting this important program, 
especially during the COVID-19 
pandemic

•  In-person Council services resumed 
following the easing of COVID-19 
restrictions, with other services 
impacted by lockdown measures

DECEMBER

•  Koondrook All Abilities Playground 
officially opened

•  Cohuna All Abilities Adventure 
Playground opened to the public

•  Council welcomed the Australian 
Energy Market Operator’s 
recommendation for State and Federal 
governments to proceed with planning 
for VNI-West (KerangLink), which will 
connect electricity infrastructure into 
the national energy grid

•  Climate Change policy adopted, which 
commits Council to transition to 
100 per cent renewable energy and 
corporate net zero emissions by 2025, 
and net zero emissions at Council-
managed landfills by 2040
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JANUARY

•  Cohuna resident, Ross Bateman was 
named Gannawarra Shire Council’s 
2022 Citizen of the Year, with 
Leitchville resident, Taylah Clements 
the 2022 Young Citizen of the Year

•  The State Government announced it 
would provide $1.5 million of funding 
for the $1.507 million The Glasshouse 
@ The Gannawarra project

•  Changes to Council services were 
implemented after local COVID-19 
cases impacted staff numbers

APRIL

•  The State Government announced it 
would provide $500,000 of funding 
for the planning of the Kerang-
Koondrook Rail Trail

•  Term 1, 2022 Warra Waders learn 
to swim program enrolments broke 
previous participation records 

•  Playable Street’s musical installation, 
The Plants held at Cohuna and Kerang

•  Director Community Wellbeing,  
Stacy Williams recognised in 
the annual Institute of Public 
Administration Victoria Top 50  
Public Sector Women awards

FEBRUARY

•  Cohuna hosted the Campervan 
Motorhome Club of Australia Solos 
Network Rally, attracting more than 
200 campervans to the Gannawarra

•  Kerang CBD Redevelopment  
– Stage 2 completed

•  Gannawarra Library Service 
presented with a copy of ‘Jes’ – A 
Dane in Australia, which focuses 
on the Jorgensen family and their 
architectural influence on buildings 
throughout the municipality

MAY

•  Annual School Transition in 
Gannawarra guide launched

•  Mega 3D town name signs installed 
at Cohuna, Kerang, Koondrook and 
Quambatook

•  2022 Australian of the Year  
Exhibition opened at Kerang’s  
Sir John Gorton Library

•  Council joined Kerang Aboriginal 
Elders and Leaders Group, Northern 
District Community Health, Kerang 
District Health, Cohuna District 
Hospital, Mallee District Aboriginal 
Services and Victoria Police in signing 
a Partnership Agreement to maintain 
and enhance positive relationships

MARCH

•  International Women’s Day morning 
tea held

•  ACE Radio breakfast program, The 
Morning Rush held a live broadcast at 
the Gateway to Gannawarra  
Visitor Centre

•  Council’s COVID-19 Hardship policy 
incorporated into the Rates Relief policy

•  Loddon Mallee Move It program, 
run locally in the Gannawarra as the 
Gannawarra – Active at Any Age! 
initiative – won the Outstanding 
Program or Project – Grant Based 
(externally funded) category at 
the 2022 LGPro Active Ageing and 
Wellbeing Awards

JUNE

•  Council won three awards at the 
2022 LGPro Awards for Excellence – 
the Outstanding Small Rural Council 
Initiative, the Community Assets 
& Infrastructure ($2.5 million and 
under) Initiative and the Special 
Projects Initiative 

•  Council’s popular Social Meals 
program resumed 

•  2022/2023 Gannawarra Shire Council 
Budget adopted

•  Draft Gannawarra Aquatic Strategy 
community sessions held across the 
municipality
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Services Snapshot 2021/22

YEAR IN REVIEW

 
•  2,695 hours of Long Day Care a week

•  1,725 hours of 4-year-old kindergarten a week

•  350 hours of 3-year-old kindergarten a week

•  713 hours of Family Day Care a week

•  943 clients serviced in home

•  14,603 hours of domestic care 

•  24,734 hours of personal care
•  21,227 hours of respite care
•  22,557 Meals on Wheels delivered

•  254 social meals provided

•  2,916 hours of property maintenance 

•  1,074 hours of planned activity group  
events conducted

•  100 clients transported to  
medical appointments (GNETS)

•  67,716 users across 107,552 sessions 
•  Average session duration of 1 minute, 32 seconds 
•  57.6% of visits made on mobile phone/tablet, with 

42.4% of visits made via a desktop device
•  Most popular pages were Home (34,457), COVID-19 

portal (8,496) and Contact Us (6,312) 

•  37,089 incoming calls received, of these  
56% were solved at first point of contact

•  4.6 second average to answer telephone
•  225 Live chats

•  1,242 vaccinations were administered  
to 806 people through Council’s  
immunisation program

•  39 immunisation sessions held
•  338 influenza shots administered as part of the  

2022 influenza program

COMMUNITY 
CARE

CHILDREN'S 
SERVICES

COUNCIL 
WEBSITE

CUSTOMER 
SERVICE

IMMUNISATION
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•  1,122 computer bookings 
•  3,487 inter library loans from other libraries 
•  5,519 loans to other libraries 
•  266 new members 
•  45,964 library collection item loans
•  2,695 new titles added 
•  965 tourism enquiries answered 
•  406 programs attended by 2,058 children and adults

•  40 dogs and 21 cats 
released back to  
their owners

•  27 dogs and 114 cats 
re-housed

•  88 wild cats seized
•  60 Notices to  

Comply issued

•  93 babies born
•  33 families experienced the birth of their first baby
•  847 Key Ages and Stages consultations completed
•  273 additional consults made, with the top two 

reasons being feeding review and parental support

•  16.7 kilometres of roads resheeted 
•  4.5 kilometres of sealed road  

rehabilitation undertaken
•  1,105 square metres of footpath replaced
•  537 lineal metres of kerb and channel replaced 
•  2,500 kilometres of roads graded 
•  Maintenance works conducted on 669 signs
•  4,064 kilometres of sealed roadside shoulders slashed
•  192,844 square metres of sealed roads resealed 

•  10% increase in Gannawarra Shire Council 
Facebook page followers 

•  4% increase in Gannawarra Shire Twitter  
page followers

•  24% increase in Gannawarra Shire Council LinkedIn 
page followers

•  3% increase in Gannawarra Library Service 
Facebook page likes

•  11% increase in Gannawarra Shire Children’s Centre 
Facebook page likes

•  57% increase in Creative Gannawarra Facebook 
page likes

• 17,317 visitors to Kerang Outdoor Pool
•  8,165 visitors to Cohuna Outdoor Pool
•  6,172 visitors to Kerang Exercise Pool 

•  6,375 visitors to Gannawarra Shire  
Council-managed visitor centres (10% from 
interstate, 0.25% international travellers)

•  Approximately 429 volunteer hours provided at the 
Gateway to Gannawarra Visitor Centre

•  12,440 visits to thegannawarra.com.au tourism 
website by 10,200 users

LIBRARY

SOCIAL 
MEDIA

LOCAL  
LAWS

SWIMMING 
POOLS

MATERNAL 
CHILD 

HEALTH

TOURISM

ROADS
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Finance Message

YEAR IN REVIEW

FINANCIAL SNAPSHOT 2021/22

Total revenue $40.61 million

Total expenditure $32.87 million

Surplus $7.74 million

Total assets $271.11 million

Total liabilities $12.87 million

Equity $258.24 million

Net cash from operating activities $15.5 million

Indebtedness ratio 7.48%

OPERATING POSITION
Council has achieved a surplus of $7.74 million in 
2021/22 - a decrease on the budgeted surplus of 
$1.6 million. The reason for this decrease is  
partially due to additional employee costs in 
Community Care Services and Children's Services. 
Part of this increase in employee costs has been 
offset by reimbursements. Capital grants have  
been lower than budgeted due to some 
unsuccessful grant applications. 

During 2021/22, Council received $5.9 million 
as part of the State and Federal Government's 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Part of this  
has been treated as unearned income in line with 
the Accounting Standards.

SURPLUS

CAPITAL WORKS 
Council aims to maintain its infrastructure assets 
at the expected levels while at the same time 
continuing to deliver the services needed by  
the community.

Council invested a total of $12.26 million on 
renewing, expanding and upgrading existing 
infrastructure in the 2021/22 financial year.  
This included $2.44 million for roads, $1.26  
million for footpaths and kerbs, $1.49m on  
drainage works, and $4.7 million for various 
recreation and leisure, parks and streetscapes 
projects across the municipality. 
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COUNCIL EXPENDITURE
There are a variety of community services that Council 
operates alongside their Capital Works projects. In 
the 2021/22 financial year, total council expenditure 
was $32.87 million, with 68 per cent being spent 
on enhancing wellbeing and liveability. Programs 
undertaken to achieve this strategic activity include 
roads and bridges infrastructure, community facilities, 
recreation reserves, community care services and 
children's services.  

This included $5.21 million being devoted to people in 
need within our Community Care sector, such as Home 
and Community Care, Brokered services and National 
Disability Insurance Scheme services, and $3.55 million 
expended on Children’s Services such as Kindergarten, 
Long Day Care, Family Day Care and Maternal and 
Childcare services.  

Essential waste management services are a big part 
of Council’s priority in creating sustainable living 
environments for the Gannawarra community, with 
$2.09 million utilised in collection of kerbside and 
public bin waste in addition to the management of the 
local landfill.

STABILITY AND EFFICIENCY
Council receives income from a number 
or sources including rates, grants, user 
fees, fines and contributions. Rates 
and charges are one of Council’s main 
sources of income, representing 34 
per cent of total income. Following the 
advance payment by the Victorian Grants 
Commission, grants comprised 45 per 
cent of total income.

Liveability  
67.36%

Sustainability  
27.16%

Growth  
5.48%

Other income  
11%Contributions  

0.2%

Grants - 
capital  
19%

Rates and 
charges  

34%

Statutory 
fees and 

fines  
1%

User fees  
7%

Grants - 
operating  
27%

Net loss on  
disposals  
of assets 
0.9%
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Major Capital Works
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Cohuna All Abilities Adventure Playground: 
$700,000 (supported by $1.7 million from the 
State Government’s Crisis Committee of Cabinet – 
Infrastructure Stimulus Fund)
Completed in December 2021, the Cohuna All Abilities 
Adventure Playground features elements that are 
prominent in many popular all-abilities play spaces, 
including a carousel, seated swing, stand-up seesaw, flying 
fox, fencing, increased seating and sealed footpaths.

Tate Drive Industrial Estate expansion, Kerang: 
$1.3 million (supported by $900,000 from the 
State Government’s Building Works package)
Completed in April 2022, expansion of the Tate 
Drive Industrial Estate, Kerang created an extra 13 
lots along the southern section of the site.

Koondrook All Abilities Playground $520,000 
(supported by $390,000 from Regional Development 
Victoria’s Regional Development fund) 
Completed in September 2021, the Koondrook All 
Abilities Playground features elements that are 
prominent in many popular all-abilities play spaces, 
including a flying fox with an accessible harness, 
timber swings featuring accessible harness seating, an 
accessible carousel and in-ground trampolines. 

Gannawarra Shire Children’s Centre expansion: 
$670,000 (supported by $600,000 from the Victorian 
Schools Building Authority
Completed in March 2022, the expansion of the 
Gannawarra Shire Children’s Centre enables the  
facility to hold 3-year-old kindergarten sessions, 
supported extra Long Day Care places available and 
increased the number of Maternal and Child Health 
consultation rooms.



ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

17YEAR IN REVIEW

Kerang CBD Redevelopment – Stage 2: $1.317 million 
(fully funded by the Federal Government Local Roads 
and Community Investment Program)
Completed in February 2022, Stage 2 of the Kerang 
CBD Redevelopment aims to connect the Kerang 
Railway Station, the award-winning Victoria Square 
precinct and the Kerang Open Space Precinct.

Inspired from the works undertaken by the 
development of the Kerang CBD Master Plan, works 
included footpath improvements along Scoresby Street 
between Fitzroy and Victoria streets and the creation 
of dedicated outdoor dining areas.

Cohuna Waterfront Development – Stage 2: $3.4 
million (supported by $1.7 million from the State 
Government’s Crisis Committee of Cabinet – 
Infrastructure Stimulus Fund)
Completed in June 2022, Stage 2 of the Cohuna 
Waterfront Development aims to provide greater 
connections between the Cohuna central business 
district and Gunbower Creek.

Key components of the project included construction 
of deck pontoon on the banks of Gunbower Creek, the 
development of dedicated outdoor dining areas either 
side of the King George Street pedestrian crossing and 
the creation of a seated area at the intersection of King 
George and Sampson streets.

Kerang All Abilities Playground and Changing 
Places facility: $1.1 million (supported by $1 million 
from the State Government’s Community Sports 
Infrastructure Stimulus Program) 
Due for completion in July 2022, the Kerang All Abilities 
Play Space will feature elements that are prominent 
in many popular all-abilities play spaces, including in-
ground trampolines, a log scramble area, water play 
areas and a wheelchair accessible sway fun swing.  

This project also includes construction of the first 
Changing Places facility in the region. Featuring a 
height-adjustable adult-sized change table, ceiling track 
hoist system and a peninsular-structured toilet, the 
space will provide suitable facilities for people who 
cannot use standard accessible toilets.
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Morton Garner Pavilion redevelopment: $600,000 
(supported by $475,000 provided from the Federal 
Government’s Regional Agricultural Show Development 
Grants program to the Cohuna and District Agricultural, 
Pastoral and Horticultural Society)
Completed in December 2021, the redevelopment of the 
Morton Garner Pavilion converted the former Cohuna 
and District Agricultural, Pastoral and Horticultural 
Society pavilion into a multi-purpose facility that can be 
used for agriculture and community events.

Atkinson Park - A Safer Precinct for All: $74,840 
(supported by $71,840 from the State Government 
Community Safety Infrastructure Grant program)
Completed in July 2021, the Atkinson Park - A Safer 
Precinct for All project involved the installation of a  
wi-fi hot spot at the Kerang Skate Park and the 
addition of CCTV cameras at both the skate park and 
the Sir John Gorton Library. The project also involved 
improved lighting throughout Atkinson Park and the 
installation of a smart bench at the skate park, which 
features mobile phone and tablet charging facilities.

Murrabit Stormwater Project: $1.654 million  
(fully funded by the Federal Government Local Roads 
and Community Infrastructure Program)
Work on the Murrabit Stormwater Project – which will 
revolutionise the town’s stormwater network by converting 
the town’s open drain network to an underground drainage 
infrastructure system – began in October 2021. 

These improvements, which are due for completion 
in July 2022, will reduce the risks associated with 
mosquito-borne disease and enable the capture and 
future use of reusable water.

Murrabit Netball Club change room redevelopment: 
$328,000 (supported by $219,000 from the State 
Government’s Female Friendly Facilities Program)
Completed in March 2022, the project involved the 
construction of a new netball change room,  
Umpire’s rooms, an accessible bathroom and first  
aid room, as well as the renovation of the former 
netball change rooms.
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•  Supporting community digital connectivity and 
literacy through three local neighbourhood houses

•  Providing businesses with support to navigate COVID 
requirements at a local level. This included assisting 
with funding applications, accessing financial support, 
and developing COVIDSafe plans

•  Hosting workshops for businesses wanting to 
improve their online presence

•  Providing signage regarding social distancing, 
customer quotients, practicing good hygiene and 
cleaning logs

Council also supported ratepayers impacted by  
the COVID-19 pandemic, with the COVID-19 Hardship 
Policy enabling Council to hold interest on any debtor 
or rates accounts and to cease debt recovery processes 
on any outstanding debts or to defer payments. This 
policy was absorbed into Council’s Rate Relief policy in 
March 2022.

Council will continue to work with the Gannawarra 
Community Resilience Committee to implement 
the Gannawarra Community Resilience Action Plan 
2021-2023 that will support social, economic and 
environmental recovery across the Gannawarra.

Council worked in partnership with the community to support 
the Gannawarra through the COVID-19 pandemic and to lead 
recovery efforts. This included supporting businesses wanting 
to improve outdoor trading opportunities (left) and promoting 
the re-activation of public spaces (right). 

Throughout 2021/22, Council worked in partnership 
with the community to support the Gannawarra 
through the COVID-19 pandemic and to lead  
recovery efforts. 

These efforts, backed by State Government  
funding, aimed to support businesses to operate in  
a COVIDSafe manner, reactivate public spaces and  
build partnerships with local community groups to 
deliver projects.

Examples included

•  Financial support for community events large 
and small to promote participation, inclusion and 
resilience

•  Assisting organisers of community events to ensure 
COVIDSafe plans are incorporated in event planning 
process

•  Installation of mega 3D town signs in Cohuna, Kerang, 
Koondrook and Quambatook during May 2022

•  Installation of musical sensory activity, The Plants in 
Cohuna and Kerang during April 2022

•  Installation of permanent outdoor furniture to 
support businesses at Koondrook, Leitchville and 
Quambatook to operate in outdoor settings in a 
COVIDSafe manner

•  Fostering the development of community-led and 
school-based food gardens across the municipality

•  Organising art workshops to promote positive mental 
health and wellbeing through social connections
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Community Engagement
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•  Council Policy No. 65 - Trees

•  Gannawarra Shire Council Financial Plan  
2021/22 to 2030/31

•  Growing Gannawarra - 2021-2025 Council Plan

•  Kerang Lakes Eco-Trail Feasibility Study

•  Public Art Policy

•  Planning Permit Application P21147

•  Road Management Plan

•  Draft Walking and Cycling Strategy

A community pop-up session to assist with the development 
of Council’s Draft Walking and Cycling Strategy occurred at 
Atkinson Park, Kerang in February 2022.

Engagement with the Gannawarra community is 
important, as it ensures Council continues to respond 
to community needs and expectations.  Council’s 
Community Engagement Strategy 2020-2025 and 
Community Engagement Policy guides how Council 
engages with the community on projects and services.

Council engaged with the community regarding  
the following projects, policies and strategies  
during 2021/22:

•  2022/23 Gannawarra Shire Council Budget

•  Draft Gannawarra Aquatic Strategy

•  Gannawarra Shire Council Asset Plan 2022-2032

•  Creative Gannawarra Strategy 2021-2025

•  Draft Cohuna Recreation Reserve Masterplan
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However, Council managed to maintain much of the 
gains it made in overall performance in 2021, following 
the steep decline of 2020.

Council’s performance in eight of the 18 service areas 
was equal to or above the Small Rural and Statewide 
average - Appearance of Public Areas (75), Elderly 
Support Services (73), Waste Management (72), 
COVID-19 Response (69), Family Support Services (67), 
Enforcement of Local Laws (64), Business, Community 
Development and Tourism (63) and Value for Money (54).

More than one in three residents (36 per cent) 
rate the value for money they receive from Council 
in infrastructure and services provided to their 
community as ‘very good’ or ‘good’. A further 38 per 
cent rate Council as ‘average’ on this measure.

2022 COMMUNITY  
SATISFACTION SURVEY
Each year the Victorian Department of Jobs, Precincts 
and Regions coordinates a Statewide Local Government 
Community Satisfaction Survey throughout Victorian 
local government areas. Held annually, this survey asks 
the opinions of local people about the place they live, 
work and play and provides confidence for councils in 
their efforts and abilities.

A total of 400 Gannawarra Shire residents over the age 
of 18 were interviewed by telephone in February and 
March 2022, with results provided as indexed scores 
out of 100.

The survey found that perceptions of Council’s 
performance in most service areas declined in the 
12-month period, including Overall Performance (54). 

OVERALL COUNCIL 
PERFORMANCE
Results shown are index 
scores out of 100 Gannawarra 54 Statewide 59 Small Rural 58

The three areas where 
Council performance is 

significantly higher by the 
widest margin
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Major Grants Received

To be built on the western side of Kerang’s Sir John 
Gorton Library, The Glasshouse @ The Gannawarra will 
feature a media lab designed to support movie making, 
sound and music recording and other creative digital 
technology projects, new meeting spaces to support 
community groups and events, and a glass façade that 
will enable the opportunity for evening activation using 
light projection and sound.

Construction of The Glasshouse @ The Gannawarra is 
scheduled to begin in the second half of 2022 and be 
completed by mid-2024.

State Government Rural Councils Transformation 
Program – Round 2 ($750,000)

In May 2022 Council received notification an 
application developed in conjunction with Buloke 
Shire Council and Swan Hill Rural City Council for the 
implementation of a shared Total Strategic Asset 
Management System had been successful.

The management system, which includes Geographic 
Information System mapping capabilities and linkages 
to customer request and finance systems, will operate 
across the three rural municipalities.

Federal Government Local Roads and Community 
Investment Program ($2.636 million)
The Federal Government announced in November 
2021 Council would receive $2.636 million from 
the third phase of the Local Roads and Community 
Infrastructure Program to support local jobs and the 
resilience of local economies to help communities 
bounce back from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Council announced in November it would allocate 
$500,000 to fully fund Stages 5 and 6 of the Murrabit 
Stormwater Project, with $2.136 million to support 
Stage 3 of the Kerang CBD Redevelopment.

Construction of Stages 5 and 6 of the Murrabit 
Stormwater Project began in mid-2022, with work on 
Stage 3 of the Kerang CBD Redevelopment to begin in 
the second half of 2022.

State Government Living Libraries Infrastructure 
Program 2021 - Major Works Program ($1.5 million)
State Minister for Local Government, the Hon. Shaun 
Leane MLC visited Kerang in January 2022 to announce 
that Council would receive $1.5 million from the Living 
Libraries Infrastructure Program 2021 - Major Works 
program to support the $1.507 million The Glasshouse 
@ The Gannawarra project.

The Glasshouse @ The Gannawarra concept artwork.
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State Government Regional Development Victoria 
Investment Fast Track Fund ($500,000)

Member for Northern Victoria, Mark Gepp MLC visited 
Koondrook in April 2022 to announce that Council 
would receive $500,000 from the Regional Development 
Victoria Investment Fast Track Fund to support the 
planning stage of the Kerang-Koondrook Rail Trail.

The funding will be used to assist with the planning, 
cultural assessment and design of the 22-kilometre 
cycling and walking trail between Kerang and Koondrook. 

As of 30 June 2022, Council was actively seeking 
further Federal and State Government assistance  
to support this project.

State Government Recreational Boating Structure 
Maintenance Program ($240,000)

In May 2022 Council received notification it had 
been successful in applying for $240,000 from the 
State Government’s Recreational Boating Structure 
Maintenance Program to install a jetty at the northern 
end of Kangaroo Lake. 

This structure will replace the former jetty, which was 
closed in 2020 after inspections found the former jetty 
was wave damaged.

State Government COVIDSafe Outdoor Activation 
Fund – LGA stream ($200,000)

During November 2021 and June 2022, Council  
used $200,000 from the State Government COVIDSafe 
Outdoor Activation Fund – LGA stream to support the 
Gannawarra’s recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Council utilised $100,000 of this funding to install 
outdoor dining furniture at businesses in Leitchville, 

Koondrook and Quambatook to enhance operation  
in a COVIDSafe manner.

The remaining $100,000 supported outdoor  
activation initiatives that aimed to reactivate 
community spaces and encourage the community  
to return to outdoor activities.

State Government 2021-22 Building Blocks  
Grants - Inclusion, Buildings and Playgrounds  
Stream ($199,690)

In May 2022 Council received notification it had 
successfully applied for $199,690 of funding from  
the State Government’s 2021-22 Building Blocks 
Program - Inclusion, Buildings and Playgrounds  
Stream to redevelop the outdoor space at the 
Gannawarra Shire Children's Centre, Kerang. These 
funds will deliver an inclusive space for all abilities, 
whilst providing several modern designed zones that 
support childhood development.

These improvements are scheduled for 2022/23.

State Government 2021/22 Building Blocks Grants - 
Planning ($65,800)

The State Government announced in December 2021 
Council would receive $65,800 from the 2021/22 
Building Blocks Grants - Planning program to explore 
future kindergarten service delivery and models of 
care for Cohuna, as well as the potential to also provide 
Long Day Care in the town.

This funding will enable Council to explore a children’s 
hub model, bringing together 3-year-old kindergarten, 
4-year-old kindergarten, Maternal and Child Health 
services, Supported Playgroup and Long Day Care.

Kerang to Koondrook Rail Trail planning  
funding announcement, April 2022.
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Award Recognition 2021/22
*   Gannawarra Goes Orange campaign was a finalist 

in the 2021 National Awards for Local Government 
Addressing Violence Against Women and their 
Children category

*   Council’s NDIS program was a finalist in the 2021 
National Awards for Local Government Cohesive 
Communities category

*   Creative Gannawarra program was a finalist in 
the 2021 National Awards for Local Government 
Creativity and Culture category

*     Koondrook CBD Redevelopment was a finalist in 
the 2021 Institute of Public Works Engineering 
Australasia – Victoria Excellence in Public Works 
Project < $2m category

*   Council’s Operations Team’s implementation of a 
paperless OH&S management system was a finalist 
in the 2021 Institute of Public Works Engineering 
Australasia – Victoria Excellence in Innovation – 
Regional category

*   Council’s Sustainable Gannawarra initiative was 
a finalist in the 2021 Institute of Public Works 
Engineering Australasia – Victoria Excellence in 
Environmental Sustainability category

*     Manager Project and Property, Wade Williams 
was a finalist in the 2021 Institute of Public Works 
Engineering Australasia – Victoria Emerging Public 
Works Leadership Award

*   Silver Award in the 2022 Australasian Reporting 
Awards for the 2021 Annual Report

*   Koondrook Retreat won the Outstanding Small 
Rural Council Initiative Award at the 2022 LGPro 
Awards for Excellence

*   Koondrook Retreat won the Community Assets & 
Infrastructure ($2.5 million and under) Initiative 
Award at the 2022 LGPro Awards for Excellence

*   Council’s Drought Communities Programme won 
the Special Projects Initiative Award at the 2022 
LGPro Awards for Excellence

*   The Cohuna Waterfront Development was 
Highly Commended in the Community Assets & 
Infrastructure (projects over $2.5 million) Initiative 
Award at the 2022 LGPro Awards for Excellence

*   Council’s Team Leader Rural Roads, Jon Haw was 
Highly Commended in the 2022 LGPro Young 
Achiever of the Year Award

*     Loddon Mallee Move It program, which Council 
participated in, won the Outstanding Program or 
Project – Grant Based at the 2022 LGPro Active 
Ageing and Wellbeing Awards

*     Aquatics Officer, Kieran Schneider was a finalist 
in the 2021 Local Government Professionals 
Australia Emerging Leader Award

*   Cohuna Waterfront Development – Stage 1 was 
a finalist in the 2021 National Awards for Local 
Government Boosting Productivity Through 
Infrastructure category

*   Koondrook Retreat was a finalist in the 2021 
National Awards for Local Government 
Contributing to Regional Growth category

YEAR IN REVIEW



Council Contributions and Donations
COMMUNITY SUPPORT GRANTS – 
2021 COMMUNITY GRANTS PROGRAM

Barham Koondrook Historical 
Society $3,500.00

Cohuna Golf Club $5,000.00

Cohuna Lions Club $4,000.00

Kerang Cemetery Trust $2,650.00

Kerang Neighbourhood House $5,000.00

Kerang Guide Association Support 
Group $3,245.00

Kerang Historical Society $5,000.00

Kerang Group of Legacy $1,980.00

Leitchville Men’s Shed $4,000.00

Murrabit Public Hall $5,000.00

Murray Human Services $3,552.90

Northern District Dance Association $5,000.00

Riverside Park Committee of 
Management, Kerang $4,800.00

TOTAL $52,727.90

COVIDSAFE OUTDOOR  
ACTIVATION FUNDING

Bower Tavern Cohuna $5,000.00

Cohuna Farmers and Makers 
Market $5,000.00

Exchange Hotel Kerang $3,500.00

Jettin Vic $1,000.00

Kerang Community Market $500.00

Kerang Sports and Entertainment 
Venue $5,000.00

Leitchville Hotel $5,000.00

Mid Murray Flying Club $1,500.00

Murrabit Advancement Association $5,000.00

Mystic Park Hotel $5,000.00

Royal Hotel Kerang $5,000.00

Ski Racing Victoria $1,000.00

TOTAL $42,500.00

During 2021/22 Council distributed $411,784.91 to 
community groups, organisations and service providers 
across the municipality.

This funding ranged from Council’s annual Community 
Grants Program – which made up more than 50 per 
cent of the annual contributions and donations figure – 
to funds provided by the State Government to support 
the Gannawarra’s social and economic recovery from 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Contributions were also provided to support 
Australia Day celebrations, school awards and 
assist communities maintain community-managed 
recreational facilities.

MAJOR COMMUNITY PROJECT FUND – 
2021 COMMUNITY GRANTS PROGRAM

Cohuna Neighbourhood House $25,000.00

Koondrook Recreation Reserve 
Committee $10,945.00

Lake Charm Foreshore Committee 
of Management $70,000.00

Riverside Park Committee of 
Management, Kerang $46,421.71

TOTAL $152,366.71

ANNUAL RECREATION RESERVE 
MAINTENANCE CONTRIBUTION

Alexandra Park Trustees, Kerang $11,500.00

Koondrook Recreation Reserve 
Committee $5,600.00

Lalbert Recreation Reserve and 
Community Group $5,600.00

Leitchville Sporting Complex 
Committee $8,767.53

Macorna Public Park and 
Recreation Reserve Committee $4,545.45

Murrabit Recreation Reserve 
Committee $5,600.00

Quambatook Football Netball Club $6,160.00

Riverside Park Committee of 
Management, Kerang $24,800.00

Wandella Football/Netball Club $5,000.00

TOTAL $77,572.98
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COMMUNITY EVENTS GRANTS –  
2021 COMMUNITY GRANTS PROGRAM

Bendigo Diocesan Trusts Corporation $5,000.00

Cohuna Neighbourhood House – 
Cohuna Community Art Gallery $1,500.00

Cohuna Progress Association $5,000.00

Lake Meran Public Purposes Committee $3,000.00

Mid Murray Flying Club $5,000.00

Murrabit and District Lions Club $5,000.00

Northern District Community Health $5,000.00

TOTAL $29,500.00

DONATIONS AND SPONSORSHIP
Barham-Koondrook Pastoral, 
Agricultural and Horticultural Society $500.00

Cohuna Bowls Club $181.82

Cohuna Bridge to Bridge $1,000.00

Cohuna Golf Club $750.00

Cohuna Lawn Tennis Club $150.00

Cohuna/Leitchville Returned and 
Services League Club $500.00

Kerang and District Agricultural Society $5,000.00

Kerang Traders $150.00

Kerang Turf Club $1,818.18

Miscellaneous contributions to 
community causes -

Rotary Club of Kerang Art Show $1,500.00

Ski Racing Victoria $2,272.73

Victorian Outboard Club $500.00

TOTAL $14,322.73

AUSTRALIA DAY CELEBRATIONS
Barham Koondrook Lions Club $400.00

Cohuna Lions Club $700.00

Lalbert Recreation and  
Community Group $400.00

Leitchville Lions Club $400.00

Lions Club of Kerang $600.00

Murrabit and District Lions Club $400.00

Quambatook Lions Club $400.00

Rotary Club of Kerang $600.00

TOTAL $3,900.00

COMMUNITY ACTIVATION AND SOCIAL 
ISOLATION (CASI) INITIATIVE

Cohuna Kangas Football Netball Club $320.00

Cohuna Neighbourhood House $1,000.00

Cohuna Neighbourhood House – 
Cohuna Men’s Shed $1,440.91

Cohuna Consolidated School $200.00

Kerang Christian College $200.00

Kerang Golf Bowling Club $320.00

Kerang Landcare Group $2,773.00

Kerang Neighbourhood House $3,000.00

Kerang Primary School $200.00

Kerang South Primary School $200.00

Kerang State Emergency Service 
(SES) Unit $530.00

Kerryn Finch - Artist $1,000.00

Koondrook Lawn Tennis Club $700.00

Koondrook Primary School $200.00

Koondrook Swimming Pool Committee $1,000.00

Lake Charm Arts and Culture Group $1,000.00

Lake Charm Primary School $200.00

Leitchville Bunyips Sporting Club $700.00

Leitchville Primary School $200.00

Macorna Football Netball Club $1,000.00

Murrabit Group School $200.00

Murrabit Lawn Tennis Club $1,000.00

Murrabit Men’s Shed $210.00

Murrabit Public Hall Committee $700.00

Northern District Community Health $7,000.00

Quambatook Community  
Resource Centre $1,000.00

St Joseph’s Primary School, Kerang $200.00

St Mary’s Primary School, Cohuna $200.00

TOTAL $26,693.91

FOUNDATION FOR RURAL AND 
REGIONAL RENEWAL (FRRR) GRANT

Murrabit Public Hall Committee $3,390.00

TOTAL $3,390.00
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RATES SUBSIDY

Cohuna and District Historical 
Society $641.03

Cohuna Masonic Lodge $595.88

Cohuna Squash Club $334.06

Leitchville Bowls Club $233.28

Leitchville Bunyips Sporting Club $69.22

Quambatook Historical Society $568.80

TOTAL $2,442.27

DROUGHT MENTAL HEALTH  
SUPPORT – COMMUNITY 
NEWSLETTER PRINTING

Cohuna Neighbourhood House $500.00

Kerang Neighbourhood House $500.00

The Lakes Chatter $500.00

Leitchville and District Progress 
Association $500.00

Murrabit Advancement Association $500.00

Quambatook Community Resource 
Centre $500.00

TOTAL $3,000.00

HIGH SCHOOL/SECONDARY  
COLLEGE BURSARY

Cohuna Secondary College $600.00

Kerang Technical High School $600.00

TOTAL $1,200.00

GANNAWARRA GOES ORANGE

Northern District Community Health $1,091.91

TOTAL $1,091.91

JAZZ HIGH TEA PROCEEDS

Lake Charm Hall Committee $1,076.50

TOTAL $1,076.50

TOTAL DONATIONS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS FOR 2021/22 $411,784.91

 

Below: Council supported numerous community groups  
and organisations during 2021/22, including the  
Cohuna Neighbourhood House.
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JULY
•  Astrophotography workshops

•  Gannawarra Library Service school holiday program

SEPTEMBER
•  Vivid Disability Service Mini Village Exhibition, Kerang

OCTOBER
•  Seniors Festival Active Minds Morning Teas, Cohuna 

and Kerang

NOVEMBER
•  The ART of Gannawarra workshop, Cohuna

•  Gannawarra Goes Orange story time

•  Magiclay Art Workshops

•  Watercolour and Charcoal Nature Portraits 
Workshops

DECEMBER
•  Gannawarra Goes Orange story time

•  Kerang Combined Churches Outreach Ministry 
Christmas Tree and Nativity display, Kerang

•  Koondrook All Abilities Playground official opening

Council-supported Events 2021/22



JANUARY 
•  Australia Day Awards presentation
•  Australia Day community celebrations
•  Hottest 100 pool party
•  Folkie Dokey Puppet Show, Kerang
•  Gannawarra Library Service Big Summer Read 

challenge drop-in sessions
•  Gannawarra Library Service school holiday program
•  Life in the Sun – 1-100 Exhibition, Kerang

FEBRUARY 
•  Life in the Sun – 1-100 Exhibition, Kerang

MARCH
•  International Women’s Day morning tea, Kerang
•  Grow Your Online Sales workshop
• The Morning Rush live broadcast, Cohuna

APRIL
•  Dress Up Box by The Kazoos, Kerang
•  Gannawarra Library Service school holiday program
•  The Plants, Cohuna and Kerang 
•  Kerang and District Family History Group Lester Smith 

Water Tower open day, Kerang

MAY
•  Jazz High Tea, Lake Charm
•  National Reconciliation Week walk, Kerang
•  2022 Australian of the Year Exhibition, Kerang
•  National Volunteer Week morning teas, Cohuna and 

Kerang
•  Cuppa with a Cop morning teas, Cohuna and Kerang
•  National Simultaneous Storytime celebrations
•  School Transition in Gannawarra guide launch, 

Koondrook

JUNE
•  Circling Time by Kutcha Edwards, Kerang
•  Gannawarra and Surrounds Professionals Network 

Winter Mingle, Cohuna
•  2022 Australian of the Year Exhibition, Kerang
•  Gannawarra Library Service school holiday program

ONGOING
•  Citizenship ceremonies

•  Councillor representation at Progress Association/
Development Committee meetings

•  Creative Gannawarra Art Salons

•  Social Meal program

NOTE
Numerous events scheduled to occur during the 
2021/22 financial year were cancelled or postponed 
due to COVID-19 restrictions. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Youth and health promotion events delivered in 
partnership with Northern District Community Health. 
Art and Culture events delivered in partnership with 
Regional Arts Victoria.

Council supported events for all ages and interest during 
2021/22, including Jazz High Tea (main photo) and the Folkie 
Dokey Puppet Show (below).
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Gannawarra Shire Council is constituted under the 
Local Government Act 2020 to provide leadership for 
the good governance of the municipal district and the 
local community. Section 8(1) of the Act states the 
role of Council is “to provide good governance in its 
municipal district for the benefit and wellbeing of the 
municipal community”. 

This is achieved by adhering to the following  
governance principles:

•  Council decisions are to be made and actions taken in 
accordance with the relevant law;

•  Priority is to be given to achieving the best  
outcomes for the municipal community, including 
future generations;

•  The economic, social and environmental 
sustainability of the municipal district, including 
mitigation and planning for climate change risks, is to 
be promoted;

•  The municipal community is to be engaged in 
strategic planning and strategic decision making;

•  Innovation and continuous improvement is  
to be pursued;

•  Collaboration with other Councils and Governments 
and statutory bodies is to be sought;

•  The ongoing financial viability of the Council is to  
be ensured;

•  Regional, State and national plans and policies are 
to be taken into account in strategic planning and 
decision making; and

•  The transparency of Council decisions, actions and 
information is to be ensured.

Council is committed to effective and sustainable forms 
of democratic and corporate governance as the key to 
ensuring that Council and its administration meet the 
community’s priorities. 

The community has many opportunities to provide 
input into Council’s decision-making processes 
including community consultation, public forums and 
the ability to make submissions to Council.

Council’s formal decision-making processes are 
conducted through Council meetings. Council 
delegates most of its decision-making to Council staff. 
These delegations are exercised in accordance with the 
Act and a range of other acts and regulations.

Our Council



Our Councillors
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AVOCA
including Lake Charm, Lalbert, 
Benjeroop, Mystic Park and 
Quambatook

MURRAY
including Koondrook, Myall  
and Murrabit

PATCHELL
including Kerang, Mead  
and Macorna

YARRAN
including Cohuna, Leitchville  
and Horfield

GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL IS 
DIVIDED INTO FOUR WARDS

Charlie has lived in the area for more than 50 years and 
operates a family farm at Lake Charm.

Charlie is currently interested in the local environment, 
agriculture, health, irrigation and sporting groups.

With our numerous existing assets, Charlie believes 
that the area we live in is very dynamic and has huge 
potential for further innovative agricultural pursuits, 
nature-based tourism opportunities, new industry, 
renewable energy prospects and increased residential 
development around our lakes and waterways.

With a proactive Council, Charlie is looking forward to 
working with his fellow Councillors and the community 
for the benefit of the whole Shire. He believes that 
with a common-sense approach, these goals can 
be achieved, and we can continue to make the 
Gannawarra a fantastic place for all.

CR CHARLIE GILLINGHAM 
Mayor
First elected October 2016

Avoca Ward
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Patchell Ward

CR JANE OGDEN  
Deputy Mayor
First elected October 2020

Jane has lived in Kerang since 2006 
and is a first-term Councillor for the 
Gannawarra Shire Council. She is not 
new to Local Government, having 
worked for the Shire in many roles, 
including as Coordinator Community 
Engagement and Community 
Development Officer. Jane was 
elected Deputy Mayor in November 
2021 and is passionate about 
encouraging and supporting more 
rural women to run for council.

Jane is also Deputy Mayor of the 
Rural Councils Victoria committee, 
representing six councils in the 
Rural North Central Region. She 

is passionate about advocating to 
State and Federal Government on 
behalf of rural councils and the 
issues that rural councils face.

The Circular Economy and Climate 
Change are high on the list of areas 
of advocacy and passion for Jane. 
She has learned how important 
just one person can be in making a 
difference to the care of our planet, 
by changing how we see “waste” 
and therefore learning to re-use, 
repair and recycle.

Jane has also recently joined the 
committee of the Australian Local 
Government Women’s Association 
– Victoria and she looks forward 
to having a positive voice on the 
committee for rural women.

CR TRAVIS COLLIER 
First elected October 2020

Since moving to Kerang in 2011, 
Travis has been an active member 
of the community in a variety of 
different roles. 

Travis is currently President of 
the Kerang Technical High School 
Council and Murrabit Netball Club, 
Vice President of the Kerang Girl 

Guides, and is involved with the 
Murrabit Tennis Club, Kerang-Swan 
Hill Rams AFL Masters football 
team, Rotary Club of Kerang 
and the Murrabit Advancement 
Association.

Travis is looking forward to working 
alongside his fellow Councillors to 
develop a strategic plan that makes 
our Shire a destination for tourists 
and businesses alike.

CR KELVIN BURT
First elected October 2020

Kelvin has lived and worked in the 
Gannawarra for most of his life.

After leaving school, the family farm 
was his first passion. This then led 
him to becoming a fencing and hay 
carting contractor. Many other jobs 
followed, including wood merchant, 
barman, backhoe operator, 

Mawsons Concrete employee and 
a management role with Lipps Bulk 
Super in Wakool.

Looking for a stable future, Kelvin 
returned to Mawsons, where he 
worked up until March 2022.

A love of the Gannawarra and a 
passion for the community led 
Kelvin to become President of the 
Kerang Progress Association for five 
years and, in 2020, a Councillor.
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Murray Ward

Yarran Ward

CR ROSS STANTON  
First elected October 2020
Ross was born in Cohuna and spent 
most of his life living and working 
in the Gannawarra. Ross has 
recently retired after 31 years with 
Goulburn-Murray Water.

Ross classifies himself as a volunteer, 
always willing to step in when help 
is needed. He is the current Chair 
the Central Rivers Football/Netball 
Board and is a life member of the 
Murrabit Football Club, having served 

previously as president of the football 
and netball clubs. Ross likes to relax 
with a game of golf and fishing, 
neither successfully!

Ross believes the Gannawarra 
is a great place to raise a family 
and enjoy all the assets this area 
has available. He sees his role 
in Council as part of the wider 
“Gannawarra Council Team”, with a 
focus on the strategic side of local 
government and looks for ways 
to enhance the opportunities for 

our youth and maintain our link to 
agriculture, renewable energy and 
environmental based tourism.

CR KEITH LINK  
First elected October 2020

Keith grew up in Melbourne and in 
1976, together with his wife, made 
a “tree change” and brought a small 
farm in Leitchville.

Over the next 40 years the Links 
expanded and developed their 
farm during which time Keith was 
involved in many service clubs 

and community organisations. He 
has since semi-retired although it 
seems farmers never retire.

Keith continues to study at 
university online and is close to 
completing his degree. Aviation 
is still his main hobby, flying his 
Cessna 172 when time permits, and 
overseas travel and caravanning 
when COVID-19 permits.

CR GARNER SMITH   
First elected October 2020
Garner was raised on a dairy farm 
in Leitchville and completed his 
HSC at Cohuna High School in 1989. 
Garner undertook tertiary studies at 
Melbourne University, graduating with 
a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) and 
undertaking a Postgraduate Honours 
year in Economics.

Garner has had significant 
experience in working in politics, 
as an Electorate Officer for Senator 
Julian McGauran and Ministerial 
Advisor to the Hon. Bill Baxter in 

the Roads and Ports portfolio. In 
addition, Garner was the Young 
Nationals State President for 
two years, the National Party 
Victoria Junior Vice President for 
a year, undertook a delegation 
to Shanghai, China as part of the 
Young Leaders Conference and 
completed a Political Exchange 
Tour of Japan. In 2021, Garner was 
elected to the Victorian Farmers 
Federation Water Committee.

Currently, Garner and his wife are 
busy running their businesses, 
Riverland Milk and Trading, Rural 

Supplies in Cohuna and Gunbower, 
as well as irrigated beef farms in 
Cohuna and Leitchville.
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Council conducts open public meetings on the 
third Wednesday of each month. Members of the 
community are welcome to attend these meetings and 
observe from the gallery or watch proceedings via a 
live broadcast available on Council’s website.

As Council was operating in accordance with the 
COVID-19 Omnibus (Emergency Measures) Act 2020, 
meetings were held virtually via Zoom between 
September 2021 and May 2022, however each meeting 
was livestreamed via Council’s website.

Council meetings also provide the opportunity for 
community members to submit questions to Council 
or provide feedback on items in line with Council’s 
Community Engagement Policy.

For the 2021/22 year, Council held 13 Council Meetings 
– 11 monthly meetings, one to elect a Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor, and one to adopt the 2022/2023 
Gannawarra Shire Council Budget.

Meetings of Council

COUNCIL MEETING DATES A – Apology   

COUNCILLOR 21/07/21 18/08/21 15/09/21 20/10/21 08/11/21 17/11/21 15/12/21 16/02/22 16/03/22 20/04/22 18/05/22 15/06/22 29/06/22 TOTAL

Cr Kelvin Burt             A 12 of 13

Cr Travis Collier              13 of 13

Cr Charlie Gillingham              13 of 13

Cr Keith Link              13 of 13

Cr Jane Ogden              13 of 13

Cr Garner Smith              13 of 13

Cr Ross Stanton              13 of 13

Councillor portfolios as determined during 2021/22

COUNCILLOR COMMITTEE

Cr Kelvin Burt Community Halls Community Asset Committee 

Cr Travis Collier Municipal Association of Victoria 

Cr Charlie Gillingham
Audit and Risk Committee 
Murray River Group of Councils – as Mayor 
Loddon Campaspe Councils – as Mayor 

Cr Keith Link Municipal Fire Management Planning Committee 

Cr Jane Ogden Loddon Mallee Waste and Resource Recovery Group (LMWRRG) Forum

Cr Garner Smith
Audit and Risk Committee
Rural Councils Victoria
Timber Towns Victoria (from August 2021)

Cr Ross Stanton
Central Victorian Greenhouse Alliance (CVGA) 
Rail Freight Alliance 

Councillor Committee Membership



Councillor Allowances and Expenses
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Conferences & 
Training Expenses Travel Expenses Car Mileage 

Expenses
IT & 

Communication 
Expenses

TOTAL

Cr. Charles Gillingham  $3,759  -    $6,370  $300  $10,429 

Cr. Garner Smith  -    $490  -    $300  $790 

Cr. Jane Ogden  $2,930  $507  $593  $271  $4,301 

Cr. Keith Link  -    $1,202  -    $300  $1,502 

Cr. Kelvin Burt  -    -    -    $300  $300 

Cr. Ross Stanton  -    $934  -   $300 $1,234 

Cr. Travis Collier  $229  -    -   $300 $529 

$6,918 $3,133 $6,964 $2,071 $19,085

COUNCILLOR ALLOWANCES
In accordance with relevant provisions of the Local 
Government Act 2020, a 16 November 2016 decision of 
Council to set Gannawarra Shire Councillor allowances 
at the maximum for Category 1 continued to apply 
from 1 June to 17 December 2021. 

For the purpose of these allowance limits, councils are 
divided into three categories based on the income and 
population of each council.  Gannawarra Shire Council 
is classified as a Category 1 Council. 

The Category 1 Councillor allowance was fixed at $21,049 
plus an amount equivalent to the superannuation 
guarantee of 10 per cent of the allowance. 

The Category 1 Mayoral allowance was fixed 
at $62,884 plus an amount equivalent to the 
superannuation guarantee of 10 per cent of  
the allowance. 

On 7 March 2022, in accordance with Section 23A 
of the Victorian Independent Remuneration Tribunal 
and Improving Parliamentary Standards Act 2019 
(Vic), the Tribunal made the Allowance payable to 

Mayors, Deputy Mayors and Councillors (Victoria) 
Determination No. 01/2022. The allowance values took 
effect from 18 December 2021.

For the purpose of these allowance limits, councils are 
divided into four categories based on the income and 
population of each council. Gannawarra Shire Council is 
classified as a Category 1 Council.

The Category 1 Councillor allowance from 18 
December 2021 was fixed at $24,080, inclusive of any 
Superannuation Guarantee Contribution.

The Category 2 Deputy Mayoral allowance from 18 
December 2021 was fixed at $37,353, inclusive of any 
Superannuation Guarantee Contribution. 

The Category 1 Mayoral allowance from 18 
December 2021 was fixed at $74,706, inclusive of any 
Superannuation Guarantee Contribution.

The Mayor, Deputy Mayor and Councillors have the 
option to be provided with internet access, a mobile 
telephone and a laptop. All Councillors have access to a 
computer, printer and fax machine at Council’s offices. 
The Mayor is also provided with a vehicle. 

COUNCILLOR EXPENSES
In accordance with the Act, a Council must:

•  Reimburse a Councillor for out-of-pocket expenses 
the Council is satisfied are bona fide expenses; have 
been reasonably incurred in the performance of the 
role of Councillor; and are reasonably necessary for 
the Councillor to perform that role.

•  Provide details of all such reimbursements to the 
Audit and Risk Committee.

•  Adopt and maintain an expenses policy in relation to 
the reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses  
for Councillors. 

Council reviewed and endorsed Policy No. 092 – 
Councillor Allowances and Support on 18 May 2022.

Council also publishes in its Annual Report the details 
of the expenses, including reimbursement of expenses 
for each Councillor. 

The details of the expenses including reimbursement 
of expenses for each Councillor paid by Council for 
2021/22 are set out as below:
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CODE OF CONDUCT
On 17 February 2021, Council reviewed and adopted 
Policy No. 078 – Councillor Code of Conduct in 
accordance with section 139(4) of the Act. The 
reviewed Councillor Code of Conduct includes four 
new mandatory standards of Council conduct (conduct 
standards) to provide greater clarity around the 
behaviour expected of Councillors and a consistent 
framework for handling complaints alleging misconduct 
under the Code.

The Code of Conduct documents Gannawarra Shire 
Councillors’ commitment to working together in the 
best interests of the people within the municipality and 
to discharging their responsibilities to the best of their 
skill and judgement.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST
Councillors are elected by the residents and ratepayers 
to act in the best interests of the community. This is a 
position of trust that requires Councillors to act in the 
public interest. When a council delegates its powers 
to a Council officer or a committee, the officer or 
committee must also act in the public interest.

A conflict of interest occurs when a personal or private 
interest might compromise the ability to act in the 
public interest. A conflict of interest exists even if no 
improper act results from it.

Council has a comprehensive procedure in place to 
accommodate the disclosure of a conflict of interest. 
Declaration of a conflict of interest is a standing agenda 
item for all Council meetings. 

While the procedures vary depending on the particular 
role and circumstances, in general they involve 
disclosing the relevant interests in a specific way and 
then stepping aside from the decision-making process 
or from the exercise of the public duty. A register is 
maintained to record all disclosed conflicts of interest. 

During 2021/22, 11 conflicts of interest were declared 
at a Council meeting. 
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Our People
Gannawarra Shire Council plays a key role in 
protecting the health of the community.
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Organisational Structure
Council has three directorates reporting to the Chief Executive Officer - Corporate Services; Community 
Wellbeing; and Infrastructure and Development. Each of these directorates is made up of individual units, 
each led by a senior officer. The Chief Executive Officer is directly accountable to the Mayor and Councillors, 
who are elected by Gannawarra Shire ratepayers.

DIRECTOR 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

SERVICES

Geoff Rollinson

DIRECTOR 
COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING

Stacy Williams

DIRECTOR 
CORPORATE 

SERVICES

Phil Higgins

CHIEF  
FINANCIAL 

OFFICER

Shana Johnny

MANAGER 
GOVERNANCE

Lisa Clue

MANAGER 
INFORMATION & 

COMMUNICATION 
TECHNOLOGY

Darryl Burton

MANAGER 
HUMAN 

RESOURCES

Tracey Clifford

MANAGER 
ASSETS & 
DESIGN

Brent Heitbaum

MANAGER 
ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT

Roger Griffiths

MANAGER 
LIBRARIES

Mesh Thomson

MANAGER 
COMMUNITY  

HEALTH

Narelle  
O'Donoghue

MANAGER 
COMMUNITY 

ENGAGEMENT

Paul Fernee

MANAGER 
CHILDREN & FAMILY 

SERVICES

Annette Millard

MANAGER 
COMMUNITY CARE

Carole Wandin

MANAGER 
OPERATIONAL 

SERVICES

Brenton Hall

MANAGER 
PLANNING AND 

REGULATORY 
SERVICES

Kellie Burmeister

MANAGER 
PROJECTS & 
PROPERTY

Wade Williams

SUPERVISOR 
CUSTOMER 

SERVICE

Rebecca Powell

CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER

Tom O’Reilly



Executive Leadership Team
TOM O’REILLY  
Chief Executive Officer
Tom joined Gannawarra Shire 
Council in the role of Director 
Corporate Services in March 2016, 
taking up the position of Chief 
Executive Officer in December 2017.

Prior to his employment with 
Council, Tom was a consultant 
with the CT Management Group, 
undertaking local government 
assignments with the Shire of 
Buloke, Moira Shire Council, Latrobe 
City Council and King Island Council.

Tom was employed with the Greater 
Shepparton City Council for 11 years 
– six years of that time as Director 
Business and Finance.

He has also worked in the private 
sector with four years as CEO 
of Metzke+Allen Chartered 
Accountants, based in Shepparton.

His career in Northern Victoria is 
extensive given he also worked 
with Goulburn-Murray Water for 11 
years, along with seven years with 
Goulburn Valley Water.

Tom has a Bachelor of Business 
(Accounting) degree and is a Certified 
Practicing Accountant (CPA).

He has served on the Board of 
Northern District Community 
Health, is a Fellow of CPA Australia 
and also a Fellow of the Goulburn 
Murray Community Leadership 
Program Inc.

Areas of responsibility:  
Council Planning and Performance; 
Councillor Support; Economic 
Development and Tourism.

Gannawarra Shire Council won three awards at the 2022 
LGPro Awards for Excellence, announced in June 2022.
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PHIL HIGGINS  
Director Corporate Services
Phil joined Gannawarra Shire Council 
as Director Corporate Services in 
November 2018. 

Phil has worked for several councils 
over the past 35 years across three 
states, predominantly in the Director 
Corporate Services role.

Phil’s extensive experience is 
supported with a Masters of 

Business Administration, majoring 
in Finance; Bachelor of Business 
Local Government; and a Graduate 
Certificate in Business Excellence.

Areas of responsibility:  
Finance and Budget; Audit; Rating 
and Valuation; Information 
Communication Technology; 
Governance and Risk; Human 
Resource Management; Records 
Management; Customer Service; 
Emergency Management.

GEOFF ROLLINSON  
Director Infrastructure  
and Development
Geoff’s earliest qualifications and 
experience are in agriculture.

He gained extensive experience 
and knowledge in local government 
when working with both the former 
Borough and Shire of Kerang and 
then the Gannawarra Shire upon 
amalgamation in 1995.

He has a Diploma of Civil 
Engineering and held the positions 
of Works Engineer and Manager 
of Operational Services with 
Gannawarra Shire from 1995 until he 
started in his current role in 2011.

Areas of responsibility:  
Major Projects; Operational Services; 
Engineering; Waste Management; 
Landfill and Transfer Stations; Local 
Laws; Flood and Fire Management; 
Building; Planning; Aquatic Facilities; 
Climate Change Adaptation.

STACY WILLIAMS  
Director Community 
Wellbeing
Stacy joined Gannawarra Shire 
Council as its Director Community 
Wellbeing in November 2017.

Prior to her employment with 
Council, Stacy held a range of roles 
in management and coordination of 
community services at Campaspe 
Shire Council, including the role 
of Community Care Manager and 
Business Integration Manager.

Stacy holds a Bachelor of Social 
Work, Graduate Certificate in 
Business and completed the 
2019 LGPro Executive Leadership 
Program. Stacy has previously been 
a member of the Australian Local 

Government Professionals Women’s 
Advisory Group and team mentor in 
 the Gannawarra Australasian 
Management Challenge team. 

In 2022, Stacy was named as an 
emerging leader in the 2021 IPAA 
Top 50 Public Sector Women 
acknowledging her leadership 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Areas of responsibility:  
Community Care Services; NDIS; 
Maternal Child Health; Community 
Health; Children and Family 
Services; Immunisation; Community 
Transport; Libraries; Arts and 
Culture; Recreation and Aquatic 
Services; Environmental Health; 
Community Engagement  
and Communications.
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Our Workplace
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Below is a summary of full-time equivalent (FTE) Council staff by organisation 
structure, employment type and gender.

FTE BY GENDER, DEPARTMENT – AS OF 30 JUNE 2022

EMPLOYMENT TYPE GENDER CEO CORPORATE 
SERVICES

INFRASTRUCTURE 
SERVICES

COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING

Permanent FT - Female Female 2.00 12.00 5.00 20.00

Permanent FT - Male Male 3.00 4.00 50.00 5.00

Permanent PT - Female Female 1.63 5.82 6.77 73.35

Permanent PT - Male Male 0.00 0.00 1.00 5.16

Casual - Female Female 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.50

Casual - Male Male 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00

Total 198.23 6.63 21.82 62.77 107.01
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Our Workplace
Below is a summary of the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) staff 
categorised by employment classification and gender.

FTE BY BAND LEVEL, GENDER – AS OF 30 JUNE 2022 

FEMALE MALE TOTAL EFT

Band 1 13.10 0.50 13.60

Band 2 35.00 8.70 43.70

Band 3 27.10 24.00 51.10

Band 4 21.20 6.00 27.20

Band 5 10.30 7.00 17.30

Band 6 6.80 10.00 16.80

Band 7 4.00 4.00 8.00

Band 8 4.00 3.00 7.00

Band N/A 9.60 4.00 13.60

Total 131.10 67.20 198.30
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ENTERPRISE BARGAINING 
AGREEMENT
With the current Enterprise Agreement expiring in 
2022, negotiations between management, staff and 
union representatives commenced in April 2022. Once 
approved, this new Agreement will set the pay and 
conditions for staff for the next three years.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Council’s workforce plays a vital role in ensuring that 
Council meets current and future business needs. 
Council is committed to continually developing 
and improving the skills and capacity of its staff 
by providing access to a range of professional 
development opportunities.

This year Council continued to focus on leadership 
development with staff participating in the  
Loddon Murray Community Leadership Program, 
the LGPro Emerging Leaders Program and the LGPro 
Executive Leaders Program. Skill development also 
occurred by way of certificate training with Council’s 
Operational staff working towards the nationally 
recognised qualification Certificate III in  
Civil Construction.

Staff maintained and expanded their technical skills 
through a variety of online webinars and forums 
relevant to their fields of expertise.

TRAINEESHIP AND  
WORK EXPERIENCE 
Council supports pathways for local students  
by providing work experience and  
traineeship opportunities.

Council’s work experience program allows for students 
from across the municipality to experience working in 
a variety of Council departments. This allows young 
people to see the many career opportunities available 
in local government and to also increase awareness of 
Council’s operations. 

During 2021/22, traineeships occurred in the areas of 
Civil Construction and Early Childhood Education. 

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITY PROGRAM
Council is committed to the principles of equal 
employment opportunity and will ensure that all 
workplace employment matters reflect this. 

Supported by various policies, new staff inductions and 
training, Council ensures that the work environment 
is respectful and free from discrimination, harassment 
and bullying.

GENDER EQUALITY ACTION PLAN 
As part of the Gender Equality Act 2020, Council has an 
obligation to promote gender equality.

To assist with this obligation, Council developed its 
Gender Equality Action Plan 2021-2025. Developed 
during a six-month period following communication 
and consultation with management, employees, 
Councillors and staff union representatives, the action 
plan includes the results of a workplace gender audit 
and strategies and measures for promoting gender 
equality in the workplace.

The action plan has two key strategies:

•  To improve our understanding of the gender and 
diversity profile of our workforce; and 

•  To raise awareness of gender equality and 
intersectional gender inequality.

WORKFORCE PLAN
As part of the Local Government Act 2020, Council is 
required to develop a workforce plan which describes 
Council’s organisational structure, specifies projected 
staffing requirements for a period of at least four years, 
and sets out measures to seek and ensure gender 
equality, diversity and inclusiveness.

Adopted in December 2021, Council’s Workforce Plan 
2021-2025 was developed in line with the Growing 
Gannawarra – 2021-2025 Council Plan objectives and, 
along with Council’s Gender Equality Action Plan, will 
guide Council’s human resource practices for the next 
four years.
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Health and safety within our workforce is our number 
one priority, as it contributes to making Gannawarra 
a workplace of choice; a workplace where our people 
have a strong connection and involvement; and a place 
where our staff enjoy coming to work each day.

We strive to foster a safety culture that supports an 
incident and injury-free workplace for all employees, 
volunteers, contractors and visitors.

Council’s Occupational Health and Safety Committee 
meets regularly and continues to work to make the 
organisation a safe and healthy place for all staff. 
Our committee, including staff health and safety 
representatives, receive regular refresher training and 
safety updates.

Accident and incident reporting is a standing 
agenda item at Management Team meetings, with 
data regularly reported to Council’s Audit and Risk 
Committee in accordance with Council’s risk framework.

A bimonthly staff survey was conducted through the 
year. The survey seeks feedback from staff around 
expectations, recognition, communication, team 
satisfaction, future of the organisation, workplace 
safety, and resources and tools available.

Council continued its proactive approach to encourage 
Council staff to protect themselves and others from 
influenza. Council provides free vaccination against 
influenza to its workforce on an annual basis with 62.2 
per cent of staff, including casual employees, taking the 
opportunity to be immunized against influenza in 2021/22.

Council continues its commitment to becoming 
recognised under the Victorian Healthy Workplaces 
Achievement Program. This Statewide health 

promotion program encourages best practice in 
workplaces around Mental Health and Wellbeing, 
Physical Activity, Smoking, Healthy Eating, and Alcohol 
and Other Drugs. Council has received recognition in 
four out of the five priority areas.

The following initiatives took place in support of the 
Healthy Workplaces Achievement Program during 2021/22:

•  Consistent use of the 5 Ways to Wellbeing to 
promote good Mental Health and Wellbeing across 
the organisation and encourage self-care during the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

•  Participating in Dry July to encourage staff to ditch 
alcohol for the month while raising funds for  
cancer research.

•  Promotion of R U OK? Day in September 2021 
and providing practical strategies for staff to have 
conversations when someone says they are not okay.

•  Participation in Gannawarra Goes Orange Day  
in November 2021 to raise awareness about  
family violence.

•  Participation in the Victoria Against Violence 16  
Days of Activism campaign in December 2021 across 
all worksites.

•  Council hosted an International Women’s Day 
Morning Tea in March 2021. 

•  Consistent promotion of the Get Active Victoria  
and Cook Well, Eat Well resources to support  
active living and healthy eating throughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Above: Council supported the Victoria Against Violence 16 
Days of Activism campaign in December 2021.

Health And Safety



Council’s actions to support residents and grow the Gannawarra 
are guided by the Growing Gannawarra – 2021-2025 Council Plan.

Our Performance
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As outlined in Part 4 of the Local Government Act 2020, 
councils are required to prepare the following planning 
and reporting documents:

•  A Community Vision for at least the next 10  
financial years

•  A Council Plan for a period of at least the next four 
financial years after a general election in accordance 
with its deliberative engagement practices. This 
document must include

o  The strategic direction of the Council;

o  Strategic objectives for achieving the  
strategic direction;

o  Strategies for achieving the objectives for a period 
of at least the next four financial years;

o  Strategic indicators for monitoring the 
achievement of the objectives;

o   A description of the Council's initiatives and priorities 
for services, infrastructure and amenity; and

o  Any other matters prescribed by the regulations.

•  A Financial Plan for the next 10 financial years

•  An Asset Plan for at least the next 10 financial years

•  A Revenue and Rating Plan for at least the next four 
financial years

•  A budget for each financial year and subsequent 
three financial years

•  A quarterly budget report

•  An Annual Report in respect of each financial year

•  Financial Policies

The Act also requires Councils to prepare a Workforce 
Plan, which includes projected staffing requirements 
for at least the next four years.

The following diagram shows the relationships 
between the key planning and reporting documents 
that make up the integrated strategic planning and 
reporting framework for local government. It also 
shows that there are opportunities for community and 
stakeholder input and feedback.

Planning and Accountability Framework

CYCLIC AND 
ONGOING 

PROCESSES

POLICY AND STRATEGY REVIEW

BUSINESS / SERVICE PLANNING, SERVICE REVIEW  
AND CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

LONG TERM FINANCIAL MODELLING AND  
ASSET PLANNING

LGPRF

VISION, 
STRATEGY 

AND POLICY

COMMUNITY  
VISION

COUNCIL 
PLAN

MPHWP 
MSS

REPORTING ON 
COMMUNITY VISION

OTHER STRATEGIC 
PLANS

COUNCIL PLAN 
REPORTING

RESOURCE 
ALLOCATION  

AND 
MANAGEMENT

ASSET 
PLAN

BUDGET 
1-3 YEARS

FINANCIAL 
PLAN

WORKFORCE  
PLAN

QUARTERLY  
FINANCE AND 

PROJECT REPORTING

REVENUE AND 
RATING PLAN

FINANCIAL  
AUDIT

ANNUAL REPORT

10+ YEARS 4+ YEARS PERFORMANCE MONITORING  
AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Local Government 
Integrated Strategic 
Planning and Reporting 
Framework (Source: 
Department of Jobs, 
Precincts and Regions).
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Growing Gannawarra

2021-2025 COUNCIL PLAN
The Growing Gannawarra - 2021-2025 Council Plan 
identifies three priority areas, each featuring a set of 
strategic priorities and success measures.
The three priority areas are:

Liveability 
Enhance the wellbeing and liveability of the Gannawarra 
through creative infrastructure and services.

Growth
Grow the Gannawarra through a diverse  
and broad economy.

Sustainability
Achieve long-term financial and  
environmental sustainability.

The Growing Gannawarra - 2021-2025 Council Plan is 
supported by an annual Action Plan for each of these 
three priority areas. 

ASSESSING OUR PERFORMANCE
Each year, the Council Plan undergoes a  
review process against the actions set for the 
12-month period in the annual Action Plan.

Liveability Growth Sustainability



Action Measure Status Comments

Review Council's Family Violence 
Statement of Commitment

Family Violence 
Statement of 
Commitment 
reviewed

Partially 
Completed

Adopted by Council in March 2020, 
Council's Family Violence Statement of 
Commitment will be reviewed by Council 
in the second half of 2022.

Review Gannawarra Free from Family 
Violence Action Plan to include measures to 
prevent family violence and respond to the 
needs of victims

Gannawarra Free 
from Family Violence 
Action Plan reviewed 
and implemented

Completed The Gannawarra Free from Family 
Violence Action Plan 2020-2022 has been 
reviewed and is being implemented.

Develop and implement the Gannawarra 
Local Agency Meeting (GLAM) Action 
Plan 2021-2025 including the priorities 
of improving mental wellbeing (through 
reconciliation and resilience), working 
towards gender equality and preventing 
family violence, and tackling climate 
change and its impact on health and 
wellbeing. A focus of partnership work will 
be on Aboriginal health and well-being and 
vulnerable children and young people

GLAM Action Plan 
endorsed and 
number of initiatives 
achieved

Completed The Gannawarra Local Agency  
Meeting (GLAM) Action Plan was 
completed and submitted to the 
Department of Families, Fairness and 
Housing for approval in November 2021. 
Eleven actions were implemented by 30 
June 2022.

Adopt the Gannawarra Reconciliation 
Action Plan in partnership with the 
Gannawarra Local Agency Meeting (GLAM) 
and Kerang Elders Group

Gannawarra 
Reconciliation Action 
Plan adopted and 
number of initiatives 
achieved

Partially 
Completed

A workshop with the Kerang Elders and 
Emerging Leaders Group was facilitated in 
March 2022. Further consultation occurred 
through to April 2022, with document 
review process continuing as of 30 June 
2022. An updated Partnership Agreement 
was re-signed in May 2022 as part of 
National Reconciliation Week celebrations.

Partner to deliver the Buloke Loddon 
Gannawarra Population Health 
Implementation Plan including 
preventative measures to improve 
the health priority areas of heart and 
respiratory health, diabetes, mental health 
and oral health

Number of actions 
from the Buloke 
Loddon Gannawarra 
Population Health 
Implementation Plan 
achieved 

Completed Numerous actions have been achieved 
from the Plan, including the award of 
$75,000 State Government funding to 
deliver a Smoking Prevention research 
project, and the delivery of an Annual 
Buloke Loddon Gannawarra Heart Health 
Community Campaign during June 2022. 
Council continues to partner with local 
agencies, including NDCH and local 
hospitals, to deliver key actions identified.

Liveability Enhance the wellbeing and liveability of the 
Gannawarra through creative infrastructure 
and services.

Improve the health, safety and wellbeing of our community 
through partnerships, services and programs.Strategic Priority 1.
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Action Measure Status Comments

Develop a Walking  
and Cycling Strategy

Walking and Cycling 
Strategy adopted

Partially 
Completed

Draft Walking and Cycling Strategy developed, 
with further consultation to be conducted 
during the second half of 2022. 

Adopt Aquatic Strategy Aquatic Strategy 
adopted

Partially 
Completed

Council endorsed the Draft Gannawarra 
Aquatic Strategy to proceed to community 
engagement stage at Council's December 2021 
Council meeting. Community engagement 
program began in May 2022 and will continue 
throughout the second half of 2022.

Deliver the Cohuna Waterfront 
Connections project and Murrabit 
Stormwater project

Cohuna Waterfront 
Connections project 
and Murrabit 
Stormwater project 
completed

Completed Cohuna Waterfront Project completed  
June 2022. Stages 1-4 of the Murrabit 
Stormwater Project completed in early 2022, 
with Stages 5-6 scheduled for completion by 
September 2022.

Explore the feasibility of the Kerang 
Lakes Eco Trail with key stakeholders

Kerang Lakes Eco 
Trail feasibility study 
commenced

Completed Development of feasibility study commenced,  
with a draft version of this document to be 
presented to Council in late 2022.

Build unique transformational infrastructure that enhances 
liveability and passive and active recreation.Strategic Priority 2.

Action Measure Status Comments

Review existing framework for 
Community Planning to identify 
community needs

Community Planning 
Framework reviewed 
and endorsed

Completed Connecting Gannawarra Framework 
developed in March 2022

Develop the GROW Gannawarra and 
Strong Youth Strong Communities 
place based projects to reduce 
disadvantage across the age ranges of 
0-18 years

GROW Gannawarra 
and Strong Youth 
Strong Communities 
project framework 
established and State of 
Gannawarra's Children 
and Young People 
report completed

Partially 
Completed

Council will co-host the Connecting 
Communities for Change Forum in July 2022, 
which will continue the work of the Strong 
Youth, Strong Communities project.  Data 
collection and the Gannawarra Advocacy 
Strategy to address service gaps is now 
underway. State of Gannawarra's Children and 
Young People report currently in development.

Strategic Priority 4. Respond to key community needs through innovative, 
commercially focused services including aged care and early 
childhood services.

Action Measure Status Comments

Commence community engagement 
to explore the concept of a Regional 
Community Wellbeing Centre

Community 
engagement plan 
developed for a 
Regional Community 
Wellbeing Centre

Completed Draft Gannawarra Aquatic Strategy 
community engagement process commenced, 
which is exploring the wider implications 
of shifting to a different model of aquatic 
provision, including the development of a 
Regional Wellbeing Centre in Kerang.

Strategic Priority 3. Construct a regional community 
wellbeing centre.
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Action Measure Status Comments

Continue to implement adopted 
Waterfront Masterplans

Percentage of 
projects completed 
from the Waterfront 
Masterplans

Completed Cohuna Waterfront Project  
completed June 2022.

Action Measure Status Comments

Continue to advocate for delivery  
of KerangLink

KerangLink named 
as preferred 
transmission line

Partially 
Completed

In December 2021 AEMO named 
KerangLink – also referred to as VNI-
West - as its preferred National Energy 
Grid transmission line option.

Facilitate new energy projects  
in Gannawarra

Number of 
approved planning 
permits for new 
energy projects

Completed New projects in wind, solar and 
battery are currently being facilitated 
with potential businesses.

Action Measure Status Comments

Review community digital connectivity 
needs and map identified gaps

Digital connectivity 
needs analysis 
undertaken and 
gaps identified

Completed Gap analysis complete. Working with 
suppliers (Telstra) about improving 
access to digital connectivity through 
grant funding for upgrades.

Explore options for public wifi Public wifi plan 
developed

Partially 
Completed

Review of public wifi within Cohuna 
undertaken. Further planning to  
be undertaken.

Growth Grow the Gannawarra through  
a diverse and broad economy.

Facilitate infrastructure, programs and policies that support 
economic development and productivity, whilst considering 
our natural environment.

Facilitate the implementation of new energy  
infrastructure and energy projects.

Advocate for improvements in digital  
connectivity and services.

Strategic Priority 1.

Strategic Priority 2.

Strategic Priority 3.
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Action Measure Status Comments

Implement relevant strategies that 
support destination development

Number of actions 
implemented 
from Tourism 
Strategy, Economic 
Development 
Strategy and Retail 
Strategy

Completed Thirty-one actions have been 
completed which has seen significant 
growth in the industrial sector, tourism 
infrastructure, population growth, jobs 
growth, residential growth, agricultural 
diversity and marketing.

Adopt and commence implementation 
of the Gannawarra Arts Trail

Gannawarra Arts 
Trail adopted and 
implementation 
commenced

Partially 
Completed

Consultation with key stakeholders 
regarding the Gannawarra Arts Trail  
is ongoing.

Support the creation of destinations in the Gannawarra to 
attract visitors to our region.Strategic Priority 4.

Action Measure Status Comments

Continue to facilitate new industry 
projects which diversify agriculture

Number of new 
industry projects 
developed to 
diversify agriculture

Completed Diversification continues with 
various projects in the planning and 
development phase.

Support existing agricultural businesses 
to diversify and enhance their long 
term sustainability

Number of 
programs supported 
and promoted 
for agricultural 
businesses

Completed Staff are working within the agriculture 
sector on a range of activities including 
energy loans, product development, 
and expansion and workforce issues.

Continue to support existing, and facilitate diversification 
of agriculture to improve regional productivity through 
sustainable planning.

Strategic Priority 5.

Action Measure Status Comments

Review the Gannawarra  
Planning Scheme

Submit the review 
of the Gannawarra 
Planning Scheme  
to the Minister  
for Planning

Partially 
Completed

A consultant has been appointed to 
undertake further strategic work to 
support the review of the Gannawarra 
Planning Scheme.

Review Urban and Rural Land  
Use Strategy

Urban and Rural 
Land Use Strategy 
review commenced

Completed Application for funding support has 
been submitted to support the review, 
planned for late 2022.

Support growth through land rezoning for future  
residential development opportunities.Strategic Priority 6.
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Sustainability Achieve long-term financial and 
environmental sustainability.

Generate additional revenue through new energy 
infrastructure and commercially viable services.Strategic Priority 1.

Action Measure Status Comments

Adopt a Long Term Financial Plan Long Term Financial 
Plan adopted

Completed Update on plan provided in June 2022.

Adopt an Asset Management Plan Asset Management 
Plan adopted

Completed Asset Management Plan adopted by 
Council in June 2022.

Carefully monitor expenditure to ensure value for  
money and monitor the long term financial plan to  
maintain financial sustainability.

Strategic Priority 2.

Action Measure Status Comments

Adopt a Workforce Plan Worforce Plan adopted Completed Workforce Plan adopted December 2021.

Develop a Gender Equality Action Plan Gender Equality 
Action Plan developed

Completed Gender Equality Action Plan 
completed.

Be a creative employer of choice through our adherence to 
good governance and our inclusive culture.Strategic Priority 3.

ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

52 OUR PERFORMANCE

Action Measure Status Comments

Support to develop Payment in Lieu 
of Rates (PiLoR) certified energy farms 
across Gannawarra

Increase number of 
approved planning 
permits for energy 
projects

Completed New wind, solar and battery projects 
continue to be facilitated.

Active pursuit of grants to assist 
in delivery of Council’s capital and 
operational service delivery

Number of grants 
applied for versus 
successful grants

Completed Twenty-nine non-recurrent grant 
applications were submitted during 
2021/22. Out of this, 17 were successful, 
one application was withdrawn, three 
are awaiting an outcome and one 
project was fully delivered.

Develop a long-term business plan for 
NDIS/Aged Care Service provision

Long Term Business 
Plan for NDIS/ 
Aged Care Service 
provision developed

Partially 
Completed

Consultants have commenced working 
with Community Care department, ELT 
and Councillors on the business plan.
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Support community resilience through climate adaptation, 
clean energy, environmental sustainability and waste 
management programs.

Strategic Priority 4.
Action Measure Status Comments

Develop a plan for the rollout of the 
Food Organics, Garden Organics (FOGO) 
system to reduce waste to landfill

FOGO rollout plan 
developed

Partially 
Completed

Currently being developed for a future 
year delivery. This plan forms part 
of Council's existing waste contract. 
Statewide program to commence 1 
July 2027.

Analyse the viability of transitioning to 
green energy powered plant and fleet

Viability report 
produced

Completed Proposed Action in the current Climate 
Change Adaption Strategy is to review 
and plan to transition to electric 
vehicles by 2035.

Implement the Gannawarra 
Community Resilience Action Plan 
in partnership with the Gannawarra 
Community Resilience Committee to 
support the community through rural 
change and the COVID-19 pandemic

Community 
Resilience Action 
Plan reviewed and 
implemented

Partially 
Completed

Implementation of Gannawarra 
Community Resilience Action Plan 
progressing in partnership with the 
Gannawarra Community Resilience 
Committee, a network of 28 agencies 
who are working together to support 
the Gannawarra community. A review  
of the Action Plan is scheduled for  
July 2022.

Develop Council’s Climate Change 
Adaptation Plan which considers 
impacts on health and wellbeing

Climate Change 
Adaptation Plan 
developed

Partially 
Completed

Draft Climate Change Adaptation 
Strategy currently being developed.



Local Government Performance 
Reporting Framework
WHAT IS THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
PERFORMANCE REPORTING 
FRAMEWORK?
The Local Government Performance Reporting 
Framework is a mandatory system of performance 
reporting for all Victorian councils. It ensures that 
councils are measuring and reporting on their 
performance in a consistent way to promote 
transparency and accountability in the local 
government sector.

The framework is made up of a range of measures, 
including roads, planning, animal management and 

waste. It is complemented by a Governance and 
Management checklist of 24 items, which shows the 
policies, plans and procedures in place at each council. 
Together, they build a comprehensive picture of  
council performance.

This data can also be viewed via the State 
Government’s Know Your Council website – 
knowyourcouncil.vic.gov.au - an interactive  
resource that enables the community, councils and  
the State Government to benchmark and compare 
similar councils.

The Local Government Performance Reporting Framework is made 
up of a range of measures, including aquatic facilities.
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ANIMAL MANAGEMENT
Provision of animal management and responsible pet ownership services to the community including 
monitoring, registration, enforcement and education.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations and Comments

Timeliness

Time taken to action animal 
management requests 1.79 1.74 2.14 2.96

Council Local Laws Officers continue 
to respond promptly to animal 
management requests.  Whilst 
results suggest a slightly longer 
response time than previous years, 
the average response time is less 
than three days.

[Number of days between receipt 
and first response action for all 
animal management requests / 
Number of animal management 
requests] 

Service Standard

Animals reclaimed 80.00% 19.66% 26.40% 29.85%

A total of 201 animals were collected 
by Council officers in 2021/22, with 
60 of those animals released back to 
their owners and 141 rehomed.

[Number of animals reclaimed 
/ Number of animals collected] 
x100 

Animals rehomed New in 
2020

75.64% 79.20% 70.15%

A total of 201 animals were collected 
by Council officers in 2021/22, with 
60 of those animals released back to 
their owners and 141 rehomed.

[Number of animals rehomed / 
Number of animals collected] 
x100

Note: This measure was introduced 
in the 2019/20 financial year

Service Cost

Cost of animal management 
service per population

New in 
2020

$10.02 $9.54 $10.26

There was a slight increase in the 
cost of the animal management 
service which is attributed to the use 
of a contractor Local Laws Officer 
due to staff leave.

[Direct cost of the animal 
management service / Number of 
registered animals] 

Note: This measure replaces ‘Cost 
of animal management service’ 
which was based on cost per number 
of registered animals. For more 
information, please see Retired 
Measures.
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SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations and Comments

Health and Safety

Animal management prosecutions New in 
2020

0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
There were no animal management 
prosecutions in 2021/22.

[Number of successful animal 
management prosecutions / 
Number of animal management 
prosecutions] x 100

Note: This measure replaces previous 
‘Animal management prosecutions’, 
which was a measure of number, not 
proportion. For more information, 
please see Retired Measures.

RETIRED MEASURES   The following indicators were retired in the year ending 30 June 2020

Service/indicator/measure Results 2019

Service Cost

Cost of animal management service $41.40

[Direct cost of the animal management service / Number 
of registered animals]

Note: This measure was replaced by Cost of animal 
management service per population 

Health and Safety

Animal management prosecutions 2

[Number of successful animal management prosecutions] Note: This measure was replaced by Animal management 
prosecutions, which is a measure of proportion, not number

ANIMAL MANAGEMENT
Provision of animal management and responsible pet ownership services to the community including 
monitoring, registration, enforcement and education.
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AQUATIC FACILITIES
Provision of indoor and outdoor aquatic facilities to the community and visitors for wellbeing,  
water safety, sport and recreation.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations and Comments

Service Standard

Health inspections of aquatic 
facilities 1.33 1.00 1.00 1.00

Gannawarra Shire Council operates 
one indoor aquatic and two outdoor 
seasonal aquatic facilities.  All three 
facilities were inspected during the 
reporting period.

[Number of authorised officer 
inspections of Council aquatic 
facilities / Number of Council aquatic 
facilities] 

Health and Safety

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 4.61 3.45 3.27 3.03

Utilisation of aquatic facilities saw 
a slight decrease in 2021/22 as 
services were partly closed due to 
COVID-19 restrictions and directions.

[Number of visits to aquatic 
facilities / Municipal population] 

Service Cost

Cost of aquatic facilities New in 
2020 $10.96 $12.31 $17.01

Council has focused on strengthening 
the operations of its facilities 
to ensure compliance with the 
Code of Practice, Guidelines for 
Safe Pool Operations and the 
State Government's COVID-19 
Safe Directions. Combined with 
a decrease in utilisation due to 
the pandemic, the cost of aquatic 
facilities has increased.

[Direct cost of aquatic facilities 
less income received / Number of 
visits to aquatic facilities] 

Note: From 2020, this measure 
replaced two previous measures: 
‘Cost of indoor aquatic facilities’ and 
‘Cost of outdoor aquatic facilities’. 
For more information, please see 
Retired Measures.

RETIRED MEASURES   The following indicators were retired in the year ending 30 June 2020

Service/indicator/measure Results 2019

Service Cost

Cost of indoor aquatic facilities $5.71

[Direct cost of indoor aquatic facilities less income 
received / Number of visits to indoor aquatic facilities] 

Note: This measure was replaced by Cost of aquatic 
facilities

Cost of outdoor aquatic facilities $4.81

[Direct cost of outdoor aquatic facilities less income 
received / Number of visits to outdoor aquatic facilities] Note: This measure was replaced by Cost of aquatic facilities
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FOOD SAFETY
Provision of food safety services to the community including registrations, education, monitoring, 
inspections and compliance.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Timeliness

Time taken to action food complaints 1.00 0.00 0.20 1.00

Council received a total 
of four food complaints 
in 2021 and all were 
actioned within 24 hours.

[Number of days between receipt 
and first response action for all food 
complaints / Number of food complaints] 

Service Standard

Food safety assessments 100.00% 100.00% 12.86% 100.00%

All registered Class 1 and 
Class 2 food premises 
received an annual 
inspection.

[Number of registered class 1 food 
premises and class 2 food premises 
that receive an annual food safety 
assessment in accordance with the Food 
Act 1984 / Number of registered class 1 
food premises and class 2 food premises 
that require an annual food safety 
assessment in accordance with the Food 
Act 1984] x100

Service Cost

Cost of food safety service $305.08 $305.08 $378.57 $227.95

A reduction in the cost 
is attributed to reduced 
hours spent on the food 
safety service.

[Direct cost of the food safety service / 
Number of food premises registered or 
notified in accordance with the Food Act 
1984] 

Health and Safety

Critical and major non-compliance 
outcome notifications 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Five major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications for a food 
premises were received 
and followed up in 
accordance with the 
Food Act 1984.

[Number of critical non-compliance 
outcome notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about a food 
premises followed up / Number of critical 
non-compliance outcome notifications 
and major noncompliance notifications 
about a food premises] x100 
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GOVERNANCE
Provision of good governance to the community including making and implementing decisions with 
reference to community engagement, policy frameworks and agreed practice.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Transparency

Council decisions made at meetings closed 
to the public 4.08% 2.94% 3.42% 2.94%

The number of matters 
considered at meetings 
closed to the public has 
decreased by one, from 
four to three.  This small 
number reflects a high 
level of transparency and 
accountability in the decision 
making process.

[Number of Council resolutions made at 
Ordinary or Special Meetings of Council, 
or at meetings of a special committee 
consisting only of Councillors, closed 
to the public / Number of Council 
resolutions made at Ordinary or Special 
Meetings of Council or at meetings of 
a special committee consisting only of 
Councillors] x100 

Consultation and Engagement

Satisfaction with community consultation 
and engagement 55.00 43.00 56.00 46.00

There were a number 
of contentious projects, 
planning matters and 
strategies that the 
community were concerned 
about in 2021/22 that may 
have contributed to this 
result.

Community satisfaction rating out of 
100 with how Council has performed on 
community consultation and engagement 

Attendance

Councillor attendance at Council Meetings 96.43% 91.21% 94.05% 98.90%
Councillor attendance at 
Council meetings remained 
steady in 2021/22.

[The sum of the number of Councillors 
who attended each Ordinary and Special 
Council Meeting / (Number of Ordinary 
and Special Council Meetings) × (Number 
of Councillors elected at the last Council 
general election)] x100 
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SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Service Cost  

Cost of elected representation $42,703.93 $43,818.96 $36,020.55 $41,335.36

An increase in the cost of 
elected representation is 
attributed to the Allowance 
payable to Mayors, Deputy 
Mayors and Councillors 
(Victoria) Determination No. 
01/2022.  The Determination 
took effect from 18 
December 2021 and saw an 
increase in the allowance of 
Mayors, Deputy Mayors and 
Councillors.

[Direct cost of the governance service / 
Number of Councillors elected at the last 
Council general election] 

Satisfaction  

Satisfaction with Council decisions 52.00 39.00 55.00 46.00

There were a number 
of contentious projects, 
planning matters and 
strategies that the 
community were concerned 
about in 2021/22 that may 
have contributed to this 
result.

Community satisfaction rating out of 
100 with how Council has performed in 
making decisions in the interest of the 
community 

GOVERNANCE
Provision of good governance to the community including making and implementing decisions with 
reference to community engagement, policy frameworks and agreed practice.



LIBRARIES
Provision of print and digital based resources to the community in a variety of formats including 
collection services, e-services, research tools and interactive learning programs.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Utilisation

Physical library collection usage 2.01 1.64 1.23 1.39

A slight increase in the 
library collection usage 
can be attributed to when 
libraries re-opened following 
COVID-19 lockdowns.

[Number of library collection item loans / 
Number of library collection items] 

Note: From 2019/20, this 
indicator measures the 
performance of physical 
library items as a subset of 
the wider library collection.

Resource Standard

Recently purchased library collection 41.85% 38.51% 34.93% 32.17%

There was a small reduction 
in purchasing new items for 
the collection in 2021/22. 
Gannawarra Shire Council 
is committed to continuing 
to withdraw older stock and 
increase the standard of the 
collection.

[Number of library collection items 
purchased in the last five years / Number 
of library collection items] x100

Participation

Active library borrowers in municipality 16.75% 16.65% 13.50% 11.47%

A reduction in the number 
of active library borrowers is 
attributed to the temporary 
closure of library branches 
due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Gannawarra 
Library Service is committed 
to the Public Libraries 
Victoria 'Return Yourself to 
the Library' campaign to 
increase library membership.

[Number of active library borrowers in 
the last three years / The sum of the 
population for the last three years] x100
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LIBRARIES
Provision of print and digital based resources to the community in a variety of formats including 
collection services, e-services, research tools and interactive learning programs.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Service Cost

Cost of library service per population New in 
2020

$54.65 $57.04 $61.36

The cost of the library 
services remained steady 
in 2021/22, with a small 
increase recorded.

[Direct cost of the library service / 
Population]

Note: This measure replaced 
the previous ‘Cost of 
library service’ indicator, 
which measured based on 
number of visits. For more 
information, please see 
Retired Measures.

RETIRED MEASURES   The following indicator was retired in the year ending 30 June 2020

Service/indicator/measure Results 2019

Service Cost

Cost of library service $7.64

[Direct cost of the library service / Number of visits] Note: This measure was replaced by Cost of library 
service per population
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MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH
Provision of universal access to health services for children from birth to school age and their families 
including early detection, referral, monitoring and recording of child health and development.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Service Standard

Infant enrolments in the MCH service 97.25% 101.28% 101.02% 101.09%

Infant enrolments in the 
Maternal and Child Health 
Services continues to remain 
high and consistent with 
previous years.

[Number of infants enrolled in the MCH 
service (from birth notifications received) 
/ Number of birth notifications received] 
x100 

Service Cost

Cost of the MCH service $65.05 $81.64 $84.92 $92.36

There was a small increase 
in the cost of the Maternal 
and Child Health Service due 
to additional hours worked 
compared to 2020/21.

NOTE: Cost of the MCH service / Hours 
worked by MCH nurses

Participation

Participation in the MCH service 70.95% 86.88% 85.60% 80.77%

Participation in the Maternal 
and Child Service was down 
slightly due to COVID-19. 
Services were restricted at 
times throughout the year, 
with young and vulnerable 
families prioritised.

[Number of children who attend the 
MCH service at least once (in the year) / 
Number of children enrolled in the MCH 
service] x100 

Participation

Participation in the MCH service by 
Aboriginal children 61.90% 100.00% 97.37% 83.33%

Participation in the Maternal 
and Child Health Service 
by Aboriginal children has 
slightly decreased. Staff 
will continue to work in 
partnership with Aboriginal 
services to encourage 
participation

[Number of Aboriginal children who 
attend the MCH service at least once (in 
the year) / Number of Aboriginal children 
enrolled in the MCH service] x100 
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MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH
Provision of universal access to health services for children from birth to school age and their families 
including early detection, referral, monitoring and recording of child health and development.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Satisfaction

Participation in 4-week Key Age and  
Stage visit

New in 
2020

101.28% 94.90% 105.43%

Participation increased in 
young children as families 
began to reengage with 
services after restrictions 
were lifted.

[Number of 4-week key age and stage 
visits / Number of birth notifications 
received] x100 

RETIRED MEASURES   The following indicator was retired in the year ending 30 June 2020

Service/indicator/measure Results 2019

Service Cost

Participation in first MCH home visit 97.25%

[Number of first MCH home visits / Number of birth 
notifications received] x100 

Note: This measure was replaced by Participation in 
4-week Key Age and Stage visit



ROADS
Provision of a network of sealed local roads under the control of the municipal council to all road users. 

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Satisfaction of Use

Sealed local road requests 20.73 9.21 12.67 36.85

There was an increase of 
sealed local road requests 
from 66 in 2020/21 to 204 
in 2021/22.  The increase 
can be attributed to wet 
weather and resident 
concerns regarding unsealed 
roads. Council continues to 
encourage the community 
to submit a customer 
action request in order to 
lodge issues with Council 
maintained roads.

[Number of sealed local road requests / 
Kilometres of sealed local roads] x100 

Condition

Sealed local roads maintained to condition 
standards 99.23% 99.42% 99.50% 99.42%

Sealed local roads 
maintained to condition 
standards has remained 
steady due to an increased 
focus in maintaining the local 
sealed roads to provide a 
better, safer network for the 
community.

[Number of kilometres of sealed local 
roads below the renewal intervention 
level set by Council / Kilometres of sealed 
local roads] x100 

Service Cost

Cost of sealed local road reconstruction $40.65 $44.30 $37.46 $38.41

A decrease in the cost 
of sealed local road 
reconstruction is attributed 
to work sites being closer to 
quarries, which has reduced 
travel time.  Council has a 
new road sealing contractor 
which has resulted in 
reduced sealing rates.

[Direct cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction / Square metres of sealed 
local roads reconstructed] 
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ROADS
Provision of a network of sealed local roads under the control of the municipal council to all road users.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Service Cost

Cost of sealed local road resealing $4.93 $5.42 $4.80 $4.52

A decrease in the cost of 
sealed local road resealing 
is attributed to aggregating 
work areas to have larger 
areas, which results in 
discounted unit rates from 
the contractor.  Council has a 
new road sealing contractor 
which has resulted in 
reduced sealing rates.

[Direct cost of sealed local road resealing 
/ Square metres of sealed local roads 
resealed] 

Satisfaction

Satisfaction with sealed local roads 50.00 47.00 54.00 50.00

Results for community 
satisfaction with sealed local 
roads has seen a decrease 
of four points. Council is 
aware that residents find it 
difficult to ascertain a council 
maintained road compared 
to roads maintained by other 
authorities. 

[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 
with how Council has performed on the 
condition of sealed local roads] 
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STATUTORY PLANNING
Provision of land use and development assessment services to applicants and the community including 
advice and determination of applications.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations 
and Comments

Timeliness

Time taken to decide planning applications 35.00 37.00 33.00 64.00

An increase in the 
time taken to decide 
planning applications is 
attributed to resource 
and software issues.

[The median number of days between 
receipt of a planning application and a 
decision on the application]

Service Standard

Planning applications decided within 
required time frames 83.22% 88.52% 90.75% 64.75%

A decrease in planning 
applications decided 
within the required 
timeframe is due to 
resource and software 
issues.

[(Number of regular planning application 
decisions made within 60 days) + 
(Number of VicSmart planning application 
decisions made within 10 days) / Number 
of planning application decisions made] 
x100

Service Cost

Cost of statutory planning service $2,028.48 $1,851.17 $1,533.56 $1,880.64

An increase in the 
cost of statutory 
planning services 
can be attributed 
to the decrease in 
applications received 
and decided on during 
2021/22.

[Direct cost of the statutory planning 
service / Number of planning applications 
received]

Decision Making 

Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
There were no VCAT 
appeals in the 2021/22 
financial year.

[Number of VCAT decisions that did not 
set aside Council’s decision in relation 
to a planning application / Number of 
VCAT decisions in relation to planning 
applications] x100 



WASTE COLLECTION
Provision of kerbside waste collection service to the community including garbage and recyclables. 

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Satisfaction    

Kerbside bin collection requests 37.50 42.18 90.42 107.18

There was an increase in bin 
collection requests from 368 
in 2020/21 to 573 in 2021/22, 
with an increase in repairs 
from 103 bins in 2020/21 
to 170 bins in 2021/22.  
An increase in kerbside 
bin collection requests is 
attributed to community 
requests for replacement of 
stolen and damaged bins, 
as well as high numbers of 
termination or change of 
service requests.

[Number of kerbside garbage and 
recycling bin collection requests / 
Number of kerbside bin collection 
households] x1000 

Service Standard    

Kerbside collection bins missed 1.64 2.51 2.57 2.21

There was a decrease in 
the number of kerbside 
collection bins missed due to 
contractor stabilisation.

[Number of kerbside garbage and 
recycling collection bins missed / Number 
of scheduled kerbside garbage and 
recycling collection bin lifts] x10,000 

Service Cost

Cost of kerbside garbage bin collection 
service $55.50 $61.51 $65.58 $71.06

The cost of the kerbside 
garbage bin collection 
service has remained 
steady, with a small 
increase attributed to CPI 
and increases in State 
Government waste levies.

[Direct cost of the kerbside garbage bin 
collection service / Number of kerbside 
garbage collection bins] 
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WASTE COLLECTION
Provision of kerbside waste collection service to the community including garbage and recyclables.

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022

Material Variations and 
Comments

Service Cost

Cost of kerbside recyclables  
collection service $37.75 $41.97 $42.11 $70.24

The cost to process recycling 
at Veolia's Echuca MRF 
has increased significantly 
(128%).  There has been an 
increase in the lift rate in line 
with Council's new waste 
contract.

[Direct cost of the kerbside recyclables 
bin collection service / Number of 
kerbside recyclables collection bins] 

Waste Diversion    

Kerbside collection waste diverted  
from landfill 42.16% 37.15% 44.88% 39.77%

There has been a reduction 
in the amount of recycling 
collected in 2021/22 
compared to the previous 
year.  Council attributes 
this to the introduction 
of new glass drop off 
services and the impact 
of COVID-19 restrictions 
in 2020/21, resulting in 
increased recycling from 
the community. Council has 
a strong focus on reducing 
waste and continues to 
support the community in 
waste education.

[Weight of recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins / Weight of 
garbage, recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins] x100 



Governance and Management 
Checklist

GOVERNANCE AND 
MANAGEMENT ITEM STATUS YES 

NO

DATE 
APPLICABLE 
(single item 
date)

SUPPORTING 
COMMENTS  
(multiple 
items/dates)

REASON FOR 'NO' 
RESPONSE

GC1

Community engagement 
policy (policy outlining 
Council's commitment 
to engaging with the 
community on matters  
of public interest)

Adopted in 
accordance 
with section 
55 of the Act

YES 17/2/2021

GC2

Community engagement 
guidelines (guidelines to 
assist staff to determine 
when and how to engage 
with the community)

Current 
guidelines in 
operation

YES 16/9/2020

GC3

Financial Plan (plan under 
section 91 of the Act 
outlining the financial and 
non-financial resources 
required for at least the 
next 10 financial years)

Adopted in 
accordance 
with section 
91 of the Act

YES 20/10/2021

GC4

Asset Plan (plan that sets 
out the asset maintenance 
and renewal needs for key 
infrastructure asset classes 
for at least the next 10 
years)

Adopted in 
accordance 
with section 
92 of the Act

YES 15/6/2022

GC5

Revenue and Rating Plan 
(plan setting out the rating 
structure of Council to levy 
rates and charges)

Adopted in 
accordance 
with section 
93 of the Act

YES 16/6/2021

GC6

Annual budget (plan 
setting out the services to 
be provided and initiatives 
to be undertaken over 
the next 12 months and 
the funding and other 
resources required)

Budget 
adopted in 
accordance 
with section 
94 of the Act

YES 29/6/2022
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GOVERNANCE AND 
MANAGEMENT ITEM STATUS YES 

NO

DATE 
APPLICABLE 
(single item 
date)

SUPPORTING 
COMMENTS  
(multiple 
items/dates)

REASON FOR 'NO' 
RESPONSE

GC7

Risk policy (policy outlining 
Council's commitment and 
approach to minimising 
the risks to Council's 
operations)

Current policy 
in operation

YES 21/7/2021

GC8

Fraud policy (policy 
outlining Council's 
commitment and approach 
to minimising the risk of 
fraud)

Current policy 
in operation

YES 18/5/2022

GC9

Municipal emergency 
management plan (plan 
under section 20 of the 
Emergency Management 
Act 1986 for emergency 
prevention, response  
and recovery)

Prepared and 
maintained in 
accordance 
with section 
20 of the 
Emergency 
Management 
Act 1986

YES 19/5/2020

GC10

Procurement policy  
(policy outlining the 
principles, processes and 
procedures that will apply 
to all purchases of goods 
and services by the Council)

Adopted in 
accordance 
with section 
108 of the Act

YES 15/12/2021

GC11

Business continuity plan 
(plan setting out the actions 
that will be taken to ensure 
that key services continue 
to operate in the event of  
a disaster)

Current plan 
in operation

YES 28/1/2021

GC12

Disaster recovery plan 
(plan setting out the actions 
that will be undertaken 
to recover and restore 
business capability in the 
event of a disaster)

Current plan 
in operation

YES 31/3/2022

GC13

Risk management 
framework (framework 
outlining Council's 
approach to managing risks 
to the Council's operations)

Current 
framework in 
operation

YES 25/4/2022

ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

71OUR PERFORMANCE



GOVERNANCE AND 
MANAGEMENT ITEM STATUS YES 

NO

DATE 
APPLICABLE 
(single item 
date)

SUPPORTING 
COMMENTS  
(multiple 
items/dates)

REASON FOR 'NO' 
RESPONSE

GC14

Audit and Risk Committee 
(advisory committee of 
Council under section 53 
and 54 of the Act)

Established in 
accordance 
with section 
53 of the Act

YES 19/8/2020

GC15

Internal audit 
(independent accounting 
professionals engaged 
by the Council to 
provide analyses and 
recommendations aimed 
at improving Council's 
governance, risk and 
management controls)

Internal 
auditor 
engaged

NO

An internal auditor 
was appointed up 
until December 
2020. Council has 
adopted a more 
targeted internal 
audit program 
focusing on efficiency 
and business 
gains. Auditors are 
appointed on an 
individual case by 
case scenario based 
on experience and 
qualifications in the 
relevant field of the 
audit.

GC16

Performance reporting 
framework (a set of 
indicators measuring 
financial and non-financial 
performance, including the 
performance indicators 
referred to in section 98 of 
the Act)

Current 
framework in 
operation

YES 6/12/2021

GC17

Council Plan report (report 
reviewing the performance 
of the Council against the 
Council Plan, including the 
results in relation to the 
strategic indicators, for 
the first six months of the 
financial year.

Current report YES 7/2/2022

GC18

Quarterly budget reports 
(quarterly reports to 
Council under section 
97 of the Act, comparing 
actual and budgeted results 
and an explanation of any 
material variations)

Quarterly 
reports 
presented 
to Council in 
accordance 
with section 
97(1) of the 
Act

YES
17/11/2021 
16/02/2022 
18/05/2022
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GOVERNANCE AND 
MANAGEMENT ITEM STATUS YES 

NO

DATE 
APPLICABLE 
(single item 
date)

SUPPORTING 
COMMENTS  
(multiple 
items/dates)

REASON FOR 'NO' 
RESPONSE

GC19

Risk reporting (six-monthly 
reports of strategic risks 
to Council's operations, 
their likelihood and 
consequences of occurring 
and risk minimisation 
strategies)

Risk reports 
prepared and 
presented

YES
09/11/2021 
08/02/2022 
10/05/2022

GC20

Performance reporting 
(six-monthly reports of 
indicators measuring the 
results against financial and 
non-financial performance, 
including performance 
indicators referred to in 
section 98 of the Act)

Performance 
reports 
prepared

NO
Reported once 
annually, being 
20/10/2021.

GC21

Annual report (annual 
report under sections 
98 and 99 of the Act 
containing a report of 
operations and audited 
financial and performance 
statements)

Annual report 
presented 
at a meeting 
of Council in 
accordance 
with section 
100 of the Act

YES 20/10/2021

GC22

Councillor Code of 
Conduct (Code setting out 
the standards of conduct to 
be followed by Councillors 
and other matters.)

Code of 
conduct 
reviewed and 
adopted in 
accordance 
with section 
139 of the Act

YES 17/2/2021

GC23

Delegations (documents 
setting out the powers, 
duties and functions of 
Council and the Chief 
Executive Officer that 
have been delegated to 
members of staff)

Delegations 
reviewed in 
accordance 
with section 
11(7) of the 
Act and a 
register kept 
in accordance 
with sections 
11(8) and 
47(7) of  
the Act

YES 20/4/2022

GC24

Meeting procedures 
(Governance Rules 
governing the conduct of 
meetings of Council and 
delegated committees)

Governance 
Rules adopted 
in accordance 
with section 
60 of the Act

YES 19/8/2020
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Audit And Risk Management
AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee’s role is to oversee and 
monitor the effectiveness of Council in carrying out its 
responsibilities for accountable financial management, 
good corporate governance, maintaining an effective 
system of internal control and risk management and 
fostering an ethical environment.

Council’s five-member Audit and Risk Committee con-
sists of three independent members – John Campbell, 
Bradley Tarr and Francis Crawley - and two Councillor 
representatives, being Cr Charlie Gillingham and Cr 
Garner Smith. 

Independent members are appointed for a three-year 
term. The Chair must be an independent member and 
is elected by the committee.

The Audit and Risk Committee meets at least quarterly, 
with four meetings held during 2021/22. The Victorian 
Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO) audit service provider 
and the Chief Executive Officer and Director Corporate 
Services are invited to attend all Audit and Risk Com-
mittee meetings. Other management representatives 
attend as required to present reports.

Recommendations and outcomes from each Audit and 
Risk Committee meeting are subsequently reported to 
and considered by Council.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Council’s internal audit function provides independent 
and objective assurance to the Audit and Risk Com-
mittee that appropriate processes and controls are in 
place across Council.

In December 2020 the approach for the internal audit 
function was changed to focus on more strategic 
business reviews. An annual internal audit plan was 
developed for 2021/2022, with the focus being on the 
following two reviews:

•  Cybersecurity review of our Information Commu-
nication Technology environment. This review was 
completed; and

•  Community Care Business review. This review  
 is in progress.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
Council is externally audited by the Victorian Auditor- 
General’s Office (VAGO). The annual external audit 
of Council’s Financial Statements and Performance 
Statement for 2021/22 was conducted by the VAGO 
appointed audit service provider, Johnsons MME.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Council officers continue to encourage and provide 
support for proactive and embedded risk management 
throughout the organisation.

During 2021/22, Council’s Audit and Risk Committee 
received four Risk Management Reports, in accordance 
with Council’s Risk Management framework (Council 
Opportunity and Risk Evaluator – CORE).

No CORE assessments were undertaken however a 
number of risk assessments were undertaken prior 
to the addition of each project to the Capital Works 
Program during preparation of Council’s proposed 
2022/23 Budget. 

Council’s Business Continuity Plan was activated once 
during 2021/22. Regular reviews and test exercises 
were undertaken on both the Plan and department 
sub-plans.
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Statutory Information
The following information is provided in accordance 
with legislative and other requirements applicable  
to Council.

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR 
PUBLIC INSPECTION
The following prescribed documents were available 
for public inspection, or copies of the documents were 
able to be obtained at 47 Victoria Street, Kerang:

•  A document containing details of overseas or 
interstate travel (other than interstate travel by land 
for less than three days) undertaken in an official 
capacity by any Councillor or member of Council staff 
in the previous 12 months.

•  Agendas for, and minutes of, Council Meetings other 
than those agendas and minutes relating to part of a 
meeting which was closed to members of the public 
under the Act and are confidential information within 
the meaning of Section 3(1) of the Act.

•  A register of delegations including the date on which 
the last review took place.

•  A document containing details of all leases involving 
land which were entered into by the Council as lessor, 
including the lessee and the terms and the value of 
the lease.

•  A register of authorised officers appointed under  
that section.

•  A list of donations and grants made by the Council in 
the previous 12 months, including the names of persons 
who, or bodies which, have received a donation or 
grant and the amount of each donation or grant.

BEST VALUE
Council is committed to the principles of the Business 
Excellence Framework, which is an integrated leadership 
and management system that describes the elements 
essential to sustainable organisational excellence. 

The objective of Business Excellence is to use 
quality management principles and tools in business 
management with the goal of improving performance 
based on customer focus, stakeholder value and 
process management. Council has integrated these 
principles into its everyday organisational environment.

Council adopted the Growing Gannawarra - 2021-2025 
Council Plan to define the goals of the organisation 
over a four-year period as required by the Local 
Government Act 2020. The Growing Gannawarra - 
2021-2025 Council Plan contains three goals, each 

featuring strategic priorities and success measures:

•  Liveability

•  Growth

•  Sustainability

Council progressively monitors the provision of best 
practice service against success indicators using 
reports provided by the Executive Leadership Team. 
Shortfalls against these indicators can then be seen as 
areas for improvement.

CARERS RECOGNITION
In accordance with the Carers Recognition Act 2012, 
Council is required to report annually on its care 
measurement obligations under Section 11 of that Act.

Council has taken all practicable measures to comply 
with its responsibilities outlined in the Carers 
Recognition Act 2012. Council has promoted the 
principles of that Act to people in care relationships 
who receive Council services, to people in care 
relationships, and to the wider community by:

•  Facilitating a monthly Carers Group;

•  Recognising National Carers Week;

•  Providing respite services to carers;

•  Distributing information through Council services and 
community newsletters; and

•  Working in partnership with other organisations and 
community groups. 

CONTRACTS 

Council entered into the following contracts between 1 
July 2021 and 15 December 2021:

Contract name Tender 
number

Contract 
signed

Waste and Recycling G03-2021 12/08/2021

Road Sealing Program G06-2021 15/09/2021

Packaged Meals Service G06-2020 1/11/2021

Cohuna CBD and 
Waterfront Connections

G07-2021 1/11/2021

Atkinson Park Play Space 
& Changing Places Facility

G08-2021 18/11/2021

Following the adoption of Council’s Procurement Policy 
on 15 December 2021, Council invited tenders or sought 
Expressions of Interest under its Procurement Policy 
from 16 December 2021 to 30 June 2022:



Contract name Tender 
number

Contract 
signed

Murrabit Township 
Stormwater Stages 5 and 6 G11-2021 18/01/2022

Electricity Supply Large 
Market REA18022020 28/01/2022

Cohuna Island Road and 
Garden Park Landscaping G12-2021 28/01/2022

Electricity Supply Small 
Market 28/02/2022

Sustainable Recreational 
Water for Quambatook G10-2021 24/06/2022

Koondrook All Abilities 
Playground G07-2020 29/06/2022

Kerang to Koondrook 
Rail Trail - Murray River 
Adventure Trail Design

G02-2022 29/06/2022

DISABILITY ACTION PLAN 
In accordance with Section 38 of the Disability Act 2006, 
Council is required to report on the implementation of its 
Disability Action Plan in the Annual Report.

During 2021/22, Council continued enacting its Social 
Inclusion Strategy 2019-2023, which was adopted by 
Council in February 2019.

This Strategy is Council’s commitment to reducing 
barriers for groups most at risk of being excluded from 
the community. This includes those with disability, who 
are culturally or linguistically diverse, who are Indigenous, 
who identify as LGBTIQ+, young people, older people and 
community members facing socio-economic disadvantage.

The strategy was developed with input from the 
community, service providers and Council staff. It 
incorporates an implementation plan with actions to be 
completed across the life of the strategy.

DOMESTIC ANIMAL  
MANAGEMENT PLAN 
In accordance with the Domestic Animals Act 1994, Council 
is required to prepare and implement a Domestic Animal 
Management Plan (DAM Plan) every four years, and 
evaluate its implementation in the Annual Report.

Highlights during 2021/22 include:

•  Working with local veterinary clinics to encourage 
responsible pet ownership.

•  Installing additional cat cages at the Kerang Pound.

•  Purchasing additional cat traps.

•  Continued rehousing of surrendered domestic animals 
the community could no longer care for.

FOOD ACT MINISTERIAL DIRECTIONS 
In accordance with Section 7E of the Food Act 1984, 
Council is required to publish a summary of any Ministerial 
Directions received during the financial year in its  
Annual Report.

No Ministerial Directions were received by Council 
during 2021/22.

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 provides individuals 
and organisations with a general right of access to 
information held by the Gannawarra Shire Council. It  
also provides a right of appeal to the Victorian 
Information Commissioner to review decisions to refuse 
access to information.
Requests for access to information under the  
Freedom of Information Act 1982 should be lodged on 
the FOI application form and sent to the Freedom of 
Information Officer, Gannawarra Shire Council, PO Box 
287, Kerang VIC 3579.
Whilst several requests for documents were received, 
one valid Freedom of Information request was received 
during 2021/22.

PROTECTED DISCLOSURE PROCEDURES 
In accordance with Section 69 of the Protected Disclosure 
Act 2012, a Council must include in its Annual Report 
information about how to access the procedures 
established by the Council under Part 9 of that Act. It is 
also required to provide certain information about the 
number and types of protected disclosure complaints 
investigated during the financial year.
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 aims to ensure 
openness and accountability in government by 
encouraging people to disclose improper conduct within 
the public sector and provide protection for people 
who make disclosures. Procedures on how to make a 
disclosure are outlined in Policy No. 107 - Public Interest 
Disclosure, which is publicly available on Council’s website.
During 2021/22, no disclosures were notified to  
Council officers appointed to receive disclosures, or to  
the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission (IBAC).

ROAD MANAGEMENT ACT 
MINISTERIAL DIRECTION 
In accordance with Section 22 of the Road Management 
Act 2004, a Council must publish a copy or summary of 
any Ministerial direction in its Annual Report.
No Ministerial Directions were received by Council  
during 2021/22.

INFRASTRUCTURE AND 
DEVELOPMENT CONTRIBUTIONS 
In accordance with Section 46GM and 46QD of the Planning 
and Environment Act 1987, a Council that is a collecting or 
development agency must prepare and give a report to the 
Minister for Planning on infrastructure and development 
contributions including levies and works in kind. The report 
must be published in a Council’s Annual Report.
No infrastructure and development contributions were 
received by Council in 2021/22.

ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

76 OUR PERFORMANCE



ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

77FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Statements



ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

78 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

80

83
84
85
86
87

88

90
93
96

98
98
99

100
102
103
103

104
105
105
106
106
106

107
109
109
110
111
113
114

115
123



ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

79FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

124
125

126
127
127
130
131

132
133
133
137



ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

80 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Gannawarra Shire Council 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Gannawarra Shire Council (the council) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2022 
• comprehensive income statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
• statement of capital works for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• certification of the financial statements. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the council as at 30 June 2022 and their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 4 of 
the Local Government Act 2020, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Councillors' 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report  

 

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Local 
Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 
2020, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
council to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 
 
 
MELBOURNE 
28 September 2022 

Travis Derricott 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Council's Performance Statement highlights the performance  
of key Council services, including local libraries.

Performance Statements
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GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL 
PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

DESCRIPTION OF MUNICIPALITY
The Gannawarra is a region loaded with natural 
features; our rivers, lakes, swamps, marshes and 
wetlands, all surrounded by majestic forests.

These special natural places of interest in The 
Gannawarra are all within a three-hour drive 
from Melbourne and around one hour from the 
neighbouring centres of Swan Hill, Echuca and Bendigo.

Our Mediterranean climate has seen us take advantage 
of the sun for renewable energy activity – in fact The 
Gannawarra is home to Australia’s largest integrated 
solar farm and battery storage facility.

Our primary centres are Kerang, Cohuna and 
Koondrook. Smaller outlying communities include 
Leitchville, Quambatook, Murrabit, Lake Charm, 
Lalbert, Macorna and Mystic Park, making up a 
population of 10,438, covering 2,278 kilometres.

Gannawarra is a place of strong community pride 
where our communities inspire each other to make The 
Gannawarra a great place to live, visit and do business.

OVERVIEW OF 2021/2022
During the financial year, Council experienced 
restrictions associated with the COVID-19 pandemic 
which resulted in the temporary closure of a number 
of facilities including Council’s Aquatic and Library 
facilities. Council continued to review and amend its 
COVID-19 Financial Hardship Policy to assist ratepayers 
impacted by the pandemic.

Despite the above restrictions, the Council completed 
a significant number of community and capital projects 
during the year, which have enhanced the liveability of 
our communities.

SUSTAINABLE CAPACITY INDICATORS
For the year ended 30 June 2022

SUSTAINABLE CAPACITY INDICATORS

Indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations

Population    

Expenses per head of municipal 
population $2,543.34 $2,832.51 $3,169.33 $3,149.26

The continued growth in 
Community Care Services 
has increased this indicator 
over the years. The decrease 
between 2020/21 and 
2021/22 relate to Drought 
Communities funded projects 
in 2020/21.

[Total expenses / Municipal population]

Infrastructure per head of 
municipal population $17,654.12 $18,220.40 $19,380.96 $21,806.76

The increase between 
2020/21 and 2021/22 is as a 
result of land and buildings 
revaluation and management 
adjustment increase to the 
roads, bridges and drainage 
classes of assets as a result 
of significant increase in road 
and bridge constructions cost.

[Value of infrastructure / Municipal population]

Population density per length 
of road 4.64 4.58 4.55 4.58

Council road length and 
population have remained 
stable.

[Municipal population / Kilometres of local roads]
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SUSTAINABLE CAPACITY INDICATORS

Indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations

Own-source revenue    

Own-source revenue per head 
of municipal population $1,711.77 $1,786.96 $1,866.92 $2,112.09

An increase is attributed 
to continued growth in 
Community Care Services 
and Children’s Services.

[Own-source revenue / Municipal population]

Recurrent grants    

Recurrent grants per head of 
municipal population $919.50 $1,053.00 $1,157.50 $1,144.09

Recurrent grants increased 
in 2021/22, due to the early 
payment of the Federal 
Assistance Grants of 75 per 
cent of the 2022/23 annual 
allocation. Recurrent grants 
were higher in 2020/21 
due to additional Roads to 
Recovery funding in 2020/21.

[Recurrent grants / Municipal population]

Disadvantage    

Relative socio-economic 
disadvantage 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

There has been no change 
in Council’s Relative Socio-
Economic Disadvantage.

[Index of Relative Socio-economic Disadvantage by decile]

Workforce turnover    

Percentage of staff turnover 13.6% 12.1% 9.0% 11.48%

An increase in staff turnover 
rate is due to a higher 
number of resignations in 
2021/22 than anticipated.

[Number of permanent staff resignations and terminations / Average 
number of permanent staff for the financial year] x 100

DEFINITIONS
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above
“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road 
Management Act 2004
"population" means the resident population estimated by council1

"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council 
(including government grants)
"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic disadvantage, 
expressed as a decile for the relevant financial year, of the area in which the municipality is located according to the 
Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA
"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics 
on its Internet website
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.
1 Council has utilised the March 2022 Australian Bureau of Statistics release for population estimate.
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SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
For the year ended 30 June 2022

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations

Aquatic facilities    

Utilisation

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 4.61 3.45 3.27 3.03

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 
saw a slight decrease in 
2021/22 as services were 
partly closed due  
to COVID-19 restrictions  
and directions.

[Number of visits to aquatic facilities / Municipal population]

Animal management    

Health and safety

Animal management 
prosecutions

New in 
2020

0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
There were no animal 
management prosecutions  
in 2021/22.

[Number of successful animal management prosecutions / Number of 
Animal management prosecutions] x100

Food safety    

Health and safety

Critical and major  
non-compliance notifications 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Five major non-compliance 
outcome notifications 
for a food premises were 
received and followed up in 
accordance with the Food 
Act 1984.

[Number of critical non-compliance notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about a food premises followed up / Number 
of critical non-compliance notifications and major non-compliance 
notifications about a food premises] x100

Governance    

Satisfaction

Satisfaction with council 
decisions 52.00 39.00 55.00 46.00

There were a number 
of contentious projects, 
planning matters and 
strategies that the 
community were concerned 
about in 2021/22 that may 
have contributed to this 
result.

[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council has 
performed in making decisions in the interest of the community]
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SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations

Libraries    

Participation

Active library borrowers in 
municipality 16.75% 16.65% 13.50% 11.47%

A reduction in the number 
of active library borrowers is 
attributed to the temporary 
closure of library branches 
due to the COVID-19 
Pandemic. Gannawarra 
Library Service is committed 
to the Public Libraries State 
wide ‘Return Yourself to the 
Library’ campaign to increase 
library membership.

[Number of active library borrowers in the last three years 
/ The sum of the population for the last three years] x100

Maternal and Child Health    

Participation

Participation in the MCH 
service 70.95% 86.88% 85.60% 80.77%

Participation in the 
Maternal and Child Health 
Service is down slightly 
due to COVID-19. Services 
were restricted at times 
throughout the year with 
young and vulnerable 
families prioritised.

[Number of children who attend the MCH service at least 
once (in the year) / Number of children enrolled in the 
MCH service] x100

Maternal and Child Health    

Participation

Participation in the MCH 
service by Aboriginal children 61.90% 100% 97.37% 83.33%

Participation in the Maternal 
and Child Health Service 
by Aboriginal children has 
slightly decreased. Staff 
will continue to work in 
partnership with Aboriginal 
services to encourage 
participation.

[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the MCH 
service at least once (in the year) / Number of Aboriginal 
children enrolled in the MCH service] x100
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SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations

Roads    

Satisfaction

Satisfaction with sealed  
local roads 50.00 47.00 54.00 50.00

Results for community 
satisfaction with sealed local 
roads has seen a decrease 
of four points. Council is 
aware that residents find it 
difficult to ascertain a council 
maintained road compared 
to roads maintained by other 
authorities.

[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council has 
performed on the condition of sealed local roads]

Statutory Planning    

Decision making

Council planning decisions 
upheld at VCAT 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% There were no VCAT appeals 

in the 2021/22 financial year.

[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside council’s decision 
in relation to a planning application / Number of VCAT decisions in 
relation to planning applications] x100

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2019

Results 
2020

Results 
2021

Results 
2022 Material Variations

Waste Collection    

Waste diversion

Kerbside collection waste 
diverted from landfill 42.16% 37.15% 44.88% 37.99%

There has been a reduction 
in the amount of recycling 
collected in 2021/22 
compared to the previous 
year. Council attributes this 
to the introduction of new 
glass drop off services and 
the impact of COVID-19 
restrictions in 2020/21, 
resulting in increased 
recycling from the community. 
Council has a strong focus on 
reducing waste and continues 
to support the community in 
waste education.

[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected from kerbside bins 
/ Weight of garbage, recyclables and green organics collected from 
kerbside bins] x100
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DEFINITIONS
"Aboriginal child" means a child who is an Aboriginal person

"Aboriginal person" has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006

"active library member" means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library

"annual report" means an annual report prepared by a council under section 98 of the Act

“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country whose 
national language is not English

“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as 
class 1 food premises under section 19C of that Act

“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as 
class 2 food premises under section 19C of that Act

"critical non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by council under section 19N(3) or (4) 
of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an 
immediate serious threat to public health

"food premises" has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984

"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the  
Road Management Act 2004

"major non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by a council under section 19N(3) or (4) of 
the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that does not pose 
an immediate serious threat to public health but may do so if no remedial action is taken

"MCH" means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a council to support the health and development of 
children within the municipality from birth until school age

"population" means the resident population estimated by council 2

2 Council has utilised the March 2022 Australian Bureau of Statistics release for population estimate.



ANNUAL REPORT
GANNAWARRA SHIRE COUNCIL

145PERFORMANCE STATEMENTS

 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
For the year ended 30 June 2022

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Dimension/
indicator/
measure

Results Forecasts
Material Variations

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Efficiency    

Expenditure level

Expenses 
per property 
assessment

$3,877.29 $4,339.72 $4,708.71 $4,696.00 $4,913.71 $4,983.86 $5,112.14 $5,188.71

The number of assessments 
is anticipated to remain 
fairly constant, with most 
costs in line with market 
forces. The continued 
growth in Community Care 
Services has increased this 
indicator. The decrease 
between 2020/21 and 
2021/22 relates to extra 
grant funding received in 
2021 for COVID support 
and Drought Communities 
support.

[Total expenses / Number of property assessments]

Revenue level

Average rate 
per property 
assessment

New in 
2020 $1,611.12 $1,613.29 $1,654.71 $1,701.43 $1,733.60 $1,766.41 $1,799.88 This increase is in line 

with the rate cap.

[General rates and Municipal charges / Number property assessments]

Liquidity    

Working capital

Current assets 
compared 
to current 
liabilities

272.15% 255.12% 197.32% 199.99% 291.46% 296.72% 293.82% 290.72%

Position sound and aided 
by the increase in cash due 
to the early payment of 
Federal Assistance Grants 
of 75 per cent for the 
2022/23 annual allocation. 
Current liabilities are 
higher than previous 
years due to the receipt of 
capital grants in advance 
which have been treated 
as unearned income. 
There is a corresponding 
increase in current assets 
as a result of the early 
payment of Federal 
Assistance Grants and 
capital grants in advance. 
The indicator increases 
in the forward years as 
Council does not budget 
for unearned grants which 
is an unknown factor.

[Current assets / Current liabilities] x100
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Dimension/
indicator/
measure

Results Forecasts
Material Variations

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Liquidity    

Unrestricted cash

Unrestricted 
cash compared 
to current 
liabilities

70.05% 48.76% 80.64% 54.41% 174.08% 180.01% 177.47% 176.41%

Unrestricted cash is 
sufficient to cover 
Council’s current 
obligation towards 
employee provisions, 
loan liabilities and 
trade payables. 
Unrestricted cash 
excludes Other 
Financial Assets i.e. 
term deposits with 
maturity greater 
than 90 days. Other 
Financial Assets are 
higher in 2021/22 
and as a result, this 
indicator is lower than 
prior year.

[Unrestricted cash / Current liabilities] x100

Obligations    

Loans and borrowings

Loans and 
borrowings 
compared to 
rates

4.42% 3.46% 2.64% 1.79% 1.08% 0.36% 0.00% 9.81%

Council has a low level 
of debt. Based on 
current borrowings, 
Council will be debt 
free in 2024/25. 
Council’s Adopted 
Budget 2022/23 
proposes new loan 
borrowings for the 
construction of the 
Regional Wellbeing 
Centre in 2025/26.

[Interest bearing loans and borrowings / Rate revenue] x100

Loans and borrowings

Loans and 
borrowings 
repayments 
compared to 
rates

1.11% 1.07% 0.93% 0.89% 0.76% 0.75% 0.37% 0.89%

Council has a low level 
of debt. Based on 
current borrowings, 
Council will be debt 
free in 2024/25. 
Council’s Adopted 
Budget 2022/23 
proposes new loan 
borrowings for the 
construction of the 
Regional Wellbeing 
Centre in 2025/26.

[Interest and principal repayments on interest bearing loans 
and borrowings / Rate revenue] x100
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Dimension/
indicator/
measure

Results Forecasts
Material Variations

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Obligations    

Indebtedness

Non-current 
liabilities 
compared to 
own source 
revenue

8.35% 7.71% 8.36% 7.48% 6.16% 5.97% 5.92% 10.99%

Council has a low level 
of debt. This debt is 
reducing and rates 
income is increasing 
in line with the rate 
cap. In 2020/21, this 
indicator was higher 
due to the increase in 
landfill rehabilitation 
provision to meet 
the Environmental 
Protection Authority 
(EPA) obligations. 
Council’s Adopted 
Budget 2022/23 
proposes new loan 
borrowings for the 
construction of the 
Regional Wellbeing 
Centre in 2025/26.

[Non-current liabilities / Own source revenue] x100

Asset renewal and upgrade

Asset renewal 
and upgrade 
compared to 
depreciation

New in 
2020 112.16% 111.53% 94.31% 113.30% 100.29% 144.10% 173.29%

The 2021/22 result is 
lower than previous 
years due to the 
continuation of multi-
year road projects 
into 2022/23. Funds 
have been earmarked 
for the completion of 
these projects. This 
indicator increases in 
2024/25 and 2025/26 
on account of budgeted 
renewal and upgrade 
works on Kerang CBD 
and the Regional 
Wellbeing Centre in 
2024/25 and 2025/26.

[Asset renewal and upgrade expense / Asset 
depreciation] x100
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Dimension/
indicator/
measure

Results Forecasts
Material Variations

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Operating position   

Adjusted underlying result

Adjusted 
underlying 
surplus (or 
deficit)

2.96% -0.26% -2.23% 4.45% -3.47% 0.32% -0.25% 0.20%

This result is higher 
in 2021/22 due to 
the early payment of 
75% of the 2022/23 
annual allocation of 
Federal Assistance 
Grants (1.6M). The 
corresponding decrease 
in 2022/23 is due to the 
recognition of this early 
payment in 2021/22.

[Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit)/ Adjusted 
underlying revenue] x100

Stability   

Rates concentration

Rates compared 
to adjusted 
underlying 
revenue

46.09% 44.51% 41.84% 40.50% 43.05% 41.83% 41.83% 41.85%

Rates proportion of 
adjusted underlying 
revenue has been 
declining due to growth 
in community services.

[Rate revenue / Adjusted underlying revenue] x100

Rates effort

Rates compared 
to property 
values

0.76% 0.73% 0.72% 0.69% 0.55% 0.55% 0.55% 0.56%

Rates compared to 
property values remains 
consistent due to rate 
capping.

[Rate revenue / Capital improved value of rateable 
properties in the municipality] x100
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DEFINITIONS
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above
"adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)" means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure
"asset renewal expenditure" means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the 
service capability of the asset to its original capability
“current assets” has the same meaning as in the AAS
"current liabilities" has the same meaning as in the AAS
“non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets
"non-current liabilities" means all liabilities other than current liabilities
“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not 
expected to be received again during the period covered by a council's Strategic Resource Plan
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council 
(including government grants)
"population "means the resident population estimated by council3

“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges
"recurrent grant "means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant
"residential rates" means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on 
residential properties
"restricted cash" means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other 
than for a purpose for which it is restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the 
previous financial year
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.
3 Council has utilised the March 2022 Australian Bureau of Statistics release for population estimate.
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FORMER MEASURES
The following indicators were retired in the year ending 30 June 2021

FORMER MEASURES

Service/indicator/measure Results 
2018

Results 
2019

Results 
2020 Material Variations

Animal Management    

Health and Safety

Animal Management 
prosecutions 0.00 2.00

Retired in 
2020

Retired in 2020

[Number of successful animal management prosecutions]

Efficiency    

Revenue Level

Average residential rate 
per residential property 
assessment

$1,158.40 $1,272.31
Retired in 

2020
Retired in 2020

[Residential rate revenue / Number of residential property assessments]

Obligations    

Asset Renewal

Asset renewal compared to 
depreciation 92.72% 99.11%

Retired in 
2020

Retired in 2020

[Asset renewal expense / Asset depreciation] x 100

OTHER INFORMATION
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1. Basis of preparation

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The performance 
statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance and financial performance 
indicators and measures together with a description of the municipal district and an explanation of material variations 
in the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 2020 and Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020.

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with 
those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information drawn from council information 
systems or from third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics).

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed financial 
performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by the council’s strategic resource plan. The Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 requires explanation of any material variations in the results 
contained in the performance statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and 
measure and explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality thresholds unless the variance is 
considered to be material because of its nature.

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by council in its strategic resource plan 
on 29 June 2022 and which forms part of the council plan. The strategic resource plan includes estimates based on key 
assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the 
long term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements. 
The strategic resource plan can be obtained by contacting council.
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CERTIFICATION OF THE PERFORMANCE STATEMENT
In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020.

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 
Shana Johnny, CPA 
Principal Accounting Officer

Dated:

In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of the Gannawarra Shire Council for the year 
ended 30 June 2022 presents fairly the results of council’s performance in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020.

The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and results in 
relation to service performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars in the 
performance statement to be misleading or inaccurate.

We have been authorised by the council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020 to certify this performance statement in its final form.

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 
Cr Charlie Gillingham  Cr Garner Smith 
Councillor  Councillor

Dated:  Dated:

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 
Tom O’Reilly 
Chief Executive Officer

Dated:
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Gannawarra Shire Council 

Opinion I have audited the accompanying performance statement of Gannawarra Shire 
Council (the council) which comprises the:  

• description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2022 
• sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2022 
• service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2022 
• financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2022 
• other information and 
• certification of the performance statement. 

In my opinion, the performance statement of Gannawarra Shire Council in 
respect of the year ended 30 June 2022 presents fairly, in all material respects, 
in accordance with the performance reporting requirements of Part 4 of the 
Local Government Act 2020 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020. 

Basis for Opinion I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which 
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. I further 
describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the performance statement section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I 
are independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of 
the performance statement in Victoria. My staff and l have also fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Councillors' 
responsibilities for the 
performance 
statement  

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the performance statement in accordance with the performance reporting 
requirements of the Local Government Act 2020 and the Local Government 
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 and for such internal control as the 
Councillors determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of a performance statement that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the 
audit of the 
performance 
statement 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit 
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the performance 
statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of this performance 
statement.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
performance statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the council’s internal control

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
performance statement, including the disclosures, and whether
performance statement represents the underlying events and results in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

MELBOURNE 
28 September 2022 

Travis Derricott 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Glossary
ADVOCACY - Lobbying for the needs of the community 
through reasoned argument to the relevant authorities.

ASSET - A physical component of a facility that has 
a value, enables a service to be provided and has an 
economic life greater than 12 months. Roads, halls and 
footpaths are assets.

ASSET MANAGEMENT - The processes by which 
Council collects and maintains a comprehensive 
database of asset conditions and uses this information 
to prioritise works funding and maintain existing assets 
at desired condition levels.

BUSINESS EXCELLENCE FRAMEWORK - A framework 
or foundation used to create an environment for 
continuous improvement that leads to sustainable 
organisational success.

CAPITAL WORKS - Work undertaken to either 
renew, upgrade, or construct assets owned by the 
Gannawarra community. Renewal capital works extend 
the functional use of an existing asset by complete or 
part refurbishment or replacement. These works are 
usually carried out on an asset which is deteriorating to 
an unacceptable service level. Upgrade capital works 
intentionally improve the level of service provided by 
an existing asset, due to performance requirements 
having increased beyond current capacity.

CODES OF CONDUCT - Statements of how the 
Councillors and/or staff will interact and work with 
colleagues and the community.

COMMUNITY PLAN - Plan developed by a community 
that outlines the community’s priorities.

COMMUNITY SATISFACTION SURVEY -  
An independent annual survey of community 
satisfaction, jointly sponsored by the Victorian 
Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions and  
local governments.

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT - Process of ensuring 
that review and improvement practises are built into 
operational activities.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION - An expense 
which recognises the value of a fixed asset as it is used 
up over time.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - Relates to wages and salaries, 
casual staff payments, annual leave, long service leave, 
superannuation, fringe benefits tax, Work Cover and 
redundancy payments.

EQUITY - Residual interest in the assets of Council 
after the deduction of its liabilities, which is made up of 
accumulated surplus and reserves. Total equity is also 
equal to net assets.

EXPENSE - An outgoing payment made by Council.

GOVERNANCE - How Council operates as a decision 
making body, its relationship with the administration, 
and the ways that Council engages with its community 
in this process.

GROWING GANNAWARRA – 2021-2025 COUNCIL 
PLAN - Plan written to guide Council’s activities for a 
four-year period. Details the strategic directions and 
objectives for the municipality, and underpins all the 
decision making processes, policies and procedures  
of Council.

INFRASTRUCTURE - Physical assets required 
to enable the community to be connected and 
operational. This includes roads, drains, footpaths and 
public open spaces, as well as public facilities  
and buildings.

LIABILITIES - Future sacrifices of economic benefits 
that Council is presently obliged to make to other 
entities as a result of past transactions or other  
past events.

REVENUE - The amount of money that Council actually 
receives from its activities, mainly from rates, grants 
and services provided to customers and ratepayers.

RISK MANAGEMENT - Discipline for developing 
appropriate procedures to reduce the possibility of 
adverse effects from future events.

ROAD MANAGEMENT PLAN/ROAD ASSET 
MANAGEMENT PLAN – The plan developed to 
establish a management system for the public road 
functions that are the responsibility of the Council.  
The management system is based on policy and 
operational objectives and at the same time  
recognises resource limitations in undertaking the 
necessary levels of service and performance standards 
outlined in the plan.

WARDS - The geographical area of Gannawarra Shire is 
broken into four electoral divisions named wards. Each 
ward has elected representatives.
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Abbreviations and Acronyms
ABS   Australian Bureau of Statistics

AEMO  Australian Energy Market Operator

AAS  Australian Accounting Standard

CALD   Culturally and linguistically diverse

CASI  Community Activation and Social  
Isolation Initiative

CBD   Central Business District

CCTV  Closed-circuit television

CEO   Chief Executive Officer

CORE  Council Opportunity and Risk Evaluator

CPA  Certified Practicing Accountant

CPI   Consumer Price Index

CR   Councillor

CVGA  Central Victorian Greenhouse Alliance

ELT  Executive Leadership Team

EPA   Environmental Protection Authority

FOGO  Food Organics, Garden Organics

FTE   Full Time Equivalent

GLAM   Gannawarra Local Agency Meeting

GNETS   Gannawarra Non-Emergency 
Transport Service

GST  Goods and Services Tax

HON.  Honourable

HSC  High School Certificate

IPAA  Institute of Public Administration Australia

KM   Kilometres

LGA  Local Government Area

LGPRF   Local Government Performance  
Reporting Framework

LGPRO   Local Government Professionals

LGV   Local Government Victoria

LMWRRG  Loddon Mallee Waste and Resource 
Recovery Group 

MAV   Municipal Association of Victoria

MRF Materials Recovery Facility

MCH   Maternal and Child Health

MLC  Member of the Legislative Council

MPHWP  Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan

MSS  Municipal Strategic Statement

NDCH   Northern District Community Health

NDIS   National Disability Insurance Scheme

OHS   Occupational Health and Safety

PiLoR  Payment in Lieu of Rates

RSL  Returned and Services League

SEIFA Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas

SES  State Emergency Service

VAGO   Victorian Auditor-General’s Office
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